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Hello

Please find attached a corrected version of the transcript of my interview -sorry abEJt all of my
audio malfunctions, not sure what was going on there. Also attached are three academic articles
with the very latest in research on matters | discussed and | provide them in answer to some of
the questions | took on notice

e | referred to Craig and Churchill, which is attached, it was published in Gender work and
organisation in 2020

e Ms Hussos asked me about leading practice in paid parental leave, please find attached a
very new (it is online first in the JIR now) paper by my colleague Professor Marian Baird
(USyd) and others published in a special issue | am editing on ‘Gender Equality, where are
we now and where to next?’ of the Journal of Industrial Relations. It is ‘online first” at the
moment but will be published in the JIR in the September issue. It goes to the very
guestion asked by Ms Hussos, namely, what sorts of PPL entitlements should Australian
workers have.

e Also please find attached in relation to Mr Searle’s question, an up to the minute analysis
of gender pay equality in Australia published by leading experts Professor Gillian
Whitehouse (UQ) and Professor Meg Smith (WSU) on gender pay equality in Australia,
where we have come from and where to next.

Hope this meets the committee’s needs. Please let me know if | can be of further assistance.
Rae
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The CHAIR: Welcome to the fifth hearing of the Select Committee on the impact of technological and
other change on the future of work and workers in New South Wales. Before | commence | would like to
acknowledge the Gadigal people, who are the traditional custodians of this land. | would also like to pay respect
to the Elders past, present and emerging of the Eora Nation and extend that respect to other Aboriginals present.
Today we will begin by hearing evidence from the Woolworths Group; the Shop, Distributive and Allied
Employees Association; NSW Farmers; and Uber. Later in the afternoon we will hear representatives of the
University of Sydney, Australian Women's Working Futures and the Queensland University of Technology's
Centre for Decent Work & Industry.

Before we commence | would like to make some brief comments about the procedures for today's
hearing. Today's hearing is being broadcast live via the Parliament's website. A transcript of today's hearing will
be placed on the Committee's website when it becomes available. In accordance with broadcasting guidelines,
media representatives are reminded that they must take responsibility for what they publish about the Committee's
proceedings. While parliamentary privilege applies to witnesses giving evidence today, it does not apply to what
witnesses say outside of their evidence at the hearing. | therefore urge witnesses to be careful about comments
they may make to the media or to others after they complete their evidence. Committee hearings are not intended
to provide a forum for people to make adverse reflections about others under the protection of parliamentary
privilege. In that regard, it is important that witnesses focus on the issues raised by the inquiry's terms of reference
and avoid naming individuals unnecessarily.

All witnesses have a right to procedural fairness according to the procedural fairness resolution adopted
by the House in 2018. If witnesses are unable to answer a question today and want more time to respond, they can
take a question on notice. Written answers to questions taken on notice are to be provided within 21 days of the
receipt of the transcript. If witnesses wish to hand up documents, they should do so through the Committee staff.
In terms of the audibility of the hearing today, | remind both Committee members and witnesses to speak into
their microphone. For those with hearing difficulties who are present in the room today, please note that the room
is fitted with induction loops compatible with hearing aid systems that have telecoil receivers. Finally, I ask that
everyone please turn their mobile phone to silent for the duration of the hearing.
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RAE COOPER, Professor of Gender, Work and Employment Relations, University of Sydney — Australian
Women's Working Futures, before the Committee via videoconference, affirmed and examined

ROBYN MAYES, Director, Centre for Decent Work & Industry, Queensland University of Technology, before
the Committee via videoconference, affirmed and examined

PENELOPE WILLIAMS, Senior Lecturer, School of Management, Queensland University of Technology,
before the Committee via videoconference, affirmed and examined

The CHAIR: We now welcome our next set of witnesses via videoconference. | invite witnesses from
the Centre for Decent Work & Industry to make an opening statement, if you choose to do so.

Professor MAYES: Thank you. | am here today as the director of the Centre for Decent Work &
Industry [CDWI], and my colleague Dr Williams is also a member of the centre. The two of us are speaking on
behalf of our other three submission co-authors who could not be here today. The Centre for Decent Work &
Industry researches the socio-economic, cultural and gendered inequalities of work, focusing on the lived
experiences of paid, unpaid and unwaged work in private, public and digital contexts. CDW!I researchers also
examine indecent work, labour migration and industry governance, including the early stages of a project in the
Advanced Manufacturing Centre examining the impact of artificial intelligence and the specific challenges of the
human- robot workforce on the future of work.

Our submission to the inquiry focused predominantly on our research in relation to the digital economy
deriving from an Australian Research Council-funded project and including our national prevalence study on gig
work in Australia. It also focused on the adequacy of skills and education systems for a sustainable and socially
just future of work for our youth. We would particularly draw the Committee's attention to two of our
recommendations in our submission. Recommendation 1 states:

Develop a system to monitor, over time, new and emerging forms of platform work and their impacts on the pay and conditions of
workers in Australia.

Recommendation 4 states:

Invest in publicly funded post-secondary education and training systems, study and training allowances that provide a living wage,
increased demand for entry level positions, and employment services that direct young workers towards skill shortages.

| thank the Committee.
The CHAIR: Professor Cooper, would you like to make an opening statement as well?

Professor COOPER: Thank you. Briefly, our submission was on behalf of our research project—which
is the Australian Women's Working Futures project, run by members of my research group, which is the Women,
Work and Leadership Group—»but also colleagues across different [audio malfunction] at the University of Sydney
across Political Economy, [audio malfunction]. This project was a landma s udy that was also partially funded
by the Australian Research Council [A that is looking at trying to fill tha. yap that we see exists in the literature
[audio malfi riciion] policy conversaticr ubout the future of work, which is that there is an extreme emphasis on
men's jobs, wadcularly on particular contexts and sectors; | guess | am thinking particularly of areas such as
manufactui We were quite concerned to try to fill that gap—we would see that there are not enough humans
in that [« UL 5 rnalfunction]—but also to note that where humans are appearing in the debate they tend not to be
women.

Our project has really tried to collect data across a range of issues related to the future of work related to
technology—»but not only technology—with much of it looking at the social and the power relations at work and
the differences between women's experiences compared with men's experiences, women's hopes, fears and
aspirations for their future and how they may differ from men's. We also emphasise that there are significant gaps
between the experience of Australian women at work compared with men, and that we are stepping into the future
of work, if vau like, way behind male counterparts in the workforce. That needs to be taken into account but
[audio ma fir ction] issues in the future.

The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: Thank you to Professor Mayes, Dr Williams and, of course,
Professor Cooper. | am a big fan of Professor Cooper's work and often quote her in the House, so | put that on the
public record. | wanted to start with paid parental leave. That is certainly a component that we have talked a little
bit about in this inquiry. It is such a huge barrier, particularly for women at a crucial point in their lives. If all of
you could perhaps outline—have you got any examples of what is best practice at the moment, either in terms of
companies in Australia or around the world, particularly if there are other government schemes? | asked the
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New South Wales Government witnesses about this. They have told us that New South Wales public servants are
provided with 14 weeks of paid maternity leave and one week of other parent leave. That has since been increased
to two weeks in the budget, but it seems like it is fairly on the minimum level of requirements rather than best
practice. | would be interested in your thoughts and your experiences in that. | will perhaps start with you,
Professor Cooper?

Professor COOPER: Thank you for the question. This is where | wish that my colleague Professor
Marian Baird was sitting beside me because she is the international expert on paid parental leave, as you would
know. It has been a great situation for Australia [auc 10 halfunction] from being one of the [aud U 1 1alfunction] in
the last 10 years—and we are at the tenth anniversa. " .1is year, actually, of the paid parental le.vc scheme being
introduced, so that is something to celebrate. But I think that much of the debate has moved on about trying to
work out how we improve paid parental leave. | guess looking around the world—maybe if | just start there—at
the situation with paid parental leave, there are much different and much more generous ge¢ ~ hments in certain
contexts, particularly looking at the Scandinavian context, where there tends to be a muc..<..ore generous—in
terms of quantum—paid leave for families upon the birth of babies. Typically we look, internationally, at those
systems, but there is also a number of companies that are trying to push around the edges to try to improve paid
parental leave rights for their employees.

Typically what we would look at as being strong mechanisms and ways to improve paid parental leave
would be about increasing the length of leave. | would probably say that around 14 weeks is probably the
standard—I would not say the gold standard—in terms of what is provided [at iU malfunction], but many
businesses are trying to push beyond that. There is also the argument of looking at w..z.er it is wage replacement
for the period of leave that is provided. We all know that the national standard is not necessarily to provide wage
replacement. | guess an area where we need to really be improving—and this is something that is connected up
with gender equality more broadly across working life and in families—is about looking at flexibility and sharing
of parental leave. One of the things that really stands out about those Scandinavian examples is that you have both
a longer period of leave but also you have the capacity amongst the parents—both the parent and the non-birthing
parent—to be able to share leave over a longer period.

Professor Baird may correct me on this, but I think the situation in Sweden is that there might be—it is
often the case in the Scandinavian countries that there is a period of leave that is apportioned for the mother—the
birthing mother—and that after that point it is a sort of "share the leave" type of situation. The reason why that is
important is that it breaks down some of those barriers that men might have to accessing their ability to care for
young kids and babies, but it also allows women in that capacity to not necessarily be the ones that are assumed
to be the ideal carer, if you like, in the family. I think I will leave it there and perhaps Professor Mayes and Dr
Williams have something to add to that.

Professor MAYES: | agree completely with everything that Professor Cooper has just said, particularly
around the need for adequate length of paid parental leave and also parental leave that is not just targeted at birth
parents but brings both parents in, because our research has shown that one of the dimensions about paid parental
leave is, while it enables women to provide care to their children immediately after birth, it is also a significant
break in their careers and then leads to ongoing, long-term disadvantage in the workplace. So we need to have
ways that might more evenly share out the responsibility for social reproduction and this means that, if we have
mechanisms that encourage and reward both parents to take parental leave, we might get around some of those
issues.

I think in terms of the broader contexts related to paid parental leave there is also the issue of the cost of
child care and how people then can afford child care and arrange that as part of the transition back to work.
Because, again, the research shows that many women after they have taken parental leave return to work as
part-time workers and in positions that are lower than those that they left. There is plenty of evidence to show that
that is continuing. | would also support what Professor Cooper was saying about Scandinavian countries. They
have long been seen as world leaders in terms of paid parental leave and indeed have taken specific actions to
make sure that both parents might take this leave. I am not sure how successful that has been yet. The research is
still being done. It does show that we do require active intervention in not only extending paid parental leave but
making sure that both parents have access to it and do indeed take it.

Dr WILLIAMS: 1 think you have covered most of what our research says. Possibly one thing | would
add is that some of our work in relation to flexible work suggests that men are more likely to access flexible work
arrangements when they support their skills development or to do further career-enhancing activities whereas
women are more likely to access them for childcare reasons. If we address some of the paid parental leave issues
and at the same time address some of the childcare issues we may free up some of the stigma associated with
accessing flexible work arrangements that is essentially gendered stigma. As we begin to see more men accessing
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flexibility for child-raising reasons, it becomes more socially accepted and that benefits both men and women in
the workplace longer term.

The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: | think there is a Scandinavian country, | cannot remember which
one, where it is compulsory for the father or the non-birthing parent to take the leave in the first 12 months. So
the government scheme is nine months for the mother but there are three months or something for the father. It is
a use it or lose it kind of system. | read about this years ago. | just cannot remember the specifics. If you know
anything more about that | think that would be useful for us to have on the record.

Professor COOPER: This is where we need Marian Baird. | think it might be Finland, but | am not
100 per cent sure.

Dr WILLIAMS: You are right. We need to defer to Marian on that.
Professor COOPER: Can | take that on notice?
The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: Yes, that would be great.

Professor COOPER: | will provide that back to the Committee as soon as | can tomorrow. How does
that sound? | know that Marian has done some significant work across international comparisons with Australia.
| agree it is a very important issue and | will take it on notice and provide it as soon as | can.

The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: Anything else you would like to provide—you have 21 days,
though, Professor Cooper.

Professor MAYES: | might take that on notice as well if that is okay because | am aware of a substantial
body of Scandinavian research on the efficacy of this non-voluntary leave on the part of the fathers or non-birth
parents and it might be interesting to bring that in as well.

The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: That would be really helpful. The only other thing on paid parental
leave | wanted to ask you was about the question of super being paid on parental leave and where we sit in terms
of that. Maybe | should throw to Doctor Williams and Professor Mayes first.

Dr WILLIAMS: My personal opinion is that super should be paid. What we see is the long-term
implications of significant time out of the workplace on women's retirement income. Paid parental leave goes
some way towards addressing that but, unless we are also ensuring that women are receiving superannuation
during that time, what we are seeing happen is that, when they get to later years in their life and they are seeking
to retire, they do not have anywhere near the same level of retirement income as men do, who are also parents.
We have seen that play out in a number of ways. Certainly the largest portion of homeless people at the moment
are women over 50 who do not have sufficient income retirement savings and that is because they have not been
working because they were raising their children. While some of that is changing, we need to do more and
superannuation is a key part of that and should be connected to paid parental leave.

Professor MAYES: | think that summarises it nicely. Just to reinforce the point that without having
superannuation as part of paid parental leave it becomes a kind of punishment to take your parental leave in some
ways, particularly since this often happens when people are young and it is at this point that they need the
superannuation so that it can continue to grow.

Professor COOPER: | would just follow that up by saying that it has probably never been a more
important time for us to actually be focusing on superannuation balances for Australian women. We know that
the COVID period has been an absolutely disastrous one for women's of force participation, both in terms of
the jobs that they hold but also the hours that they work. We know thut'.ie largest group of underemployed and
under-utilised workers are women and a great number of these are mums. A lot of people have depleted their
super balances to try to cope with some of the economic shocks that they have faced through 2020 and early 2021.
The super balances, as Dr Williams said, that women hold—I think women in Australia have 40 per cent less
super balances than men when they retire. | would say that if we look at that after the COVID period, it is not
quite over yet but, | think we will find there will be a significant impact of some of the policy approaches that
have allowed women—and I can understand why they would because of the extreme financial hardship—and men
to access their superannuation. | think that is a public policy disaster waiting to happen down the track.

The Hon. COURTNEY HOUSSOS: You both touched on the COVID pandemic and obviously we
have seen a real revolution in the way we worked over the course of March and April last year. What should we
be taking or what is the best practice that we should be taking going forward? What should we be looking for to
learn from the COVID experience when we are shaping our workplaces for the future?

Professor COOPER: Great question. | think actually some of the aspects of the flexible working that
we saw through COVID might be some of the only glimmers of hope of that period. | am in the field at the moment
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looking at work practices and gender equality in a number of professions, some of which you would characterise
as being reasonably conservative around issues of working from home and working remotely. Being in the field
during the period of COVID showed us that, when operations had to move very quickly online, teams and
organisations and even whole professions had traditionally said this cannot be done in this context because of
whatever reason it might be—because of 24-hour operations, because of the need to be present with clients, for
example, or because of the need for ongoing customer-facing work, it is not possible to be achieved. Some of
those areas moved fairly rapidly and it was quite a shock to do so, but I think that there has been some learning
there that it is actually possible if we have the right systems and the right technology to move to remote working.
I think we also should keep in mind that not all professions and occupations or sectors can work on a basis that is
remote.

I think, interestingly, to your question about gender equality, often those professions are women's jobs.
We know that women were absolutely the front line during the COVID crisis in terms of the health, education and
care work more recently. They—not always but often—are most likely to be undertaking labour which is
contemporaneous, where they are working with children or working with the elderly or working with community
members, and it is difficult to do that on Zoom. [al malfunction] education really did move online. There are
some variations there but we would see that some ui the jobs that are highly [au iiu malfunction] are ones that
cannot be done quite so easily.

A concept that | have been working with for the last five or six years—and I think this is something we
need to keep in mind when we are looking at how flexibility plays in the recovery—is looking at mutually
beneficial flexibility or flexible careers. Really that is about saying that flexibility is something that is really
critical for different members of the workforce. It is often very critical actually for business as well. But I think
often we are having a conversation about flexibility that plays out in a way which tends to be kind of one-sided.
I would really strongly argue that what we need to do is to have an approach which is much more balanced, where
employees have a sense of control over the flexibility that they are able to access and that works for them as much
in some ways—and it sounds contradictory, but works very much for them in terms of having a dependable wage
and a dependable series of hours that they are able to work. That is just as important, particularly to women who
have care responsibilities, as it is to have flexibility.

In fact, our Australian Women's Working Futures project tells us that when you ask women under 40
what is the most important thing to them in their employment and a future flourishing career and their future of
work, they point to two things. The first one is respect, and that is also something that has been quite in the news
of late, but they also point to security. Down the list a little is flexibility. It is very important for women, and they
say it is more important to them than men say it is for them. That balance between security and control with
flexibility is really important so that we cannot just look at the flexibility that is required to develop high-quality
careers and decent work across the life course. We cannot assume that that is just one-sided flexibility in which
employees have very little say and have very little control, so | think that that is quite [¢ ¢l ) malfunction].

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: Hello to all of you. Thank you for your submissions and for appearing today.
There are so many issues that this brings up. The issue of the pink recession—not just the impact of technology
but also the acceleration of technology into the home during COVID. One of the things that | have been reading
and hearing a lot about is that since COVID and the flexibility to work from home, families where you have got
both parents working were cutting off some of the services they were getting from outside to help them with
domestic work—cleaning services, nannying and babysitting services. Whether it was an economic constraint on
those families or whether it was, "Well we are at home anyway so we can do more of this stuff. We do not need
to commute et cetera." The impact of that was then a lot of women losing their jobs as quite insecure cleaners and
nannies and babysitters. Do you have any insight into that and whether it has bounced back? Do you know what
happened to those women during COVID?

Professor COOPER: | have not done research specifically on that but just to your first point that you
made about the impact on family dynamics and economies during COVID, you are absolutely correct; that was a
severe impact. Some very interesting research by our colleagues at the University of Melbourne, Lyn Craig and
Brendan Churchill, looking at hours unpaid that men and women did at home prior to COVID and the hours of
work that they did during COVID. What was interesting is that men and women sort of stepped in like this with
women doing considerably more unpaid work at home than did men. During COVID men did more work so their
hours of unpaid work increase but actually what you see is quite an astronomical increase in women's unpaid work
at home. So that actually the gap between men and women's unpaid work at home has really increased
significantly. That is Australian evidence and a really interesting study, which | am happy to provide a link to if
you are interested. But it is also absolutely [audio mal™.i . tion] work.

I have not specifically done research on those women who provide personal and other services at home,
but the hypothesis you put there sounds reasonable to me in terms of the impact that we have seen in ABS data,
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for example. We know that the jobs that were lost and most profoundly affected during, particularly, those extreme
lockdown periods—for us, it was earlier, but in the Victorian situation, where jobs were really affected, it was in
those kinds of personal service areas and some aspects of retail. Retail was sort of a two-speed story in many
respects, but also in hospitality, cleaning and those kind of areas. It is likely that what you are describing is playing
out in that ABS data, but | personally have not done any research on those jobs that people are doing services into
the home—perhaps Professor Mayes and Dr Williams have.

Professor MAYES: | was just thinking, there is ample evidence about the way that women working
from home have an entirely different experience of home to their male partners on many different axes. Not only
in terms of responsibility for child care and housework but also in terms of the spaces that they have access to in
homes. | am aware of research that shows that men are more likely to have a study or a secure space from which
to work and women work on kitchen tables and so on. Of course the emphasis on those support services and what
happens when they disappear has ramifications for both the women receiving the services and those providing
them. While I have not conducted any specific research in terms of the experience of COVID, | have done research
on au pair workers in Australia and they were significantly impacted by, firstly, the fact that they could not return
home for many of them, and | do know that many of them did continue by extending their visas and extending the
time that they might spend with a particular family.

Again, those kinds of support services come back to the earlier point about how the cost of child care has
a lot to do with women's capacities to contribute in an equal fashion to men to the workforce. So if they do not
have those resources at home, they are significantly disadvantaged. But also, it is about how people are then
missing other educational services. | am just trying to show the way everything is interconnected. As you started
out in your original question, the complexities of that continue to substantially marginalise women in terms of any
gains that have been made for women over the last 10 or 20 years. We are seeing a massive step back for women's
participation in the workforce and also their freedom within the home and being solely responsible for child care.

Dr WILLIAMS: | could probably add to that from a slightly different perspective in terms of research
that has been done on the digital economy. Some of the jobs that you were talking about are undertaken through
digital platforms now, so cleaning or even child care or babysitting work. Certainly even the global research that
was done in the digital economy during COVID suggests that we are seeing the same types of inequities
reproduced there. Women were most negatively affected; they lost most of their work opportunities. We saw
increases, for example, in more work for food delivery drivers and courier drivers who are mostly men, and less
work for the cleaners and domestic care workers who are predominantly women, even in the gig economy.

This is the difficulty with the gig economy generally, it is very difficult to get clear data on it because
there are so many different ways of participating in the gig economy. There is some work that is done by the
Oxford Internet Institute and they run what is called an Online Labour Index. It measures the number of jobs that
are posted and where they are posted globally, and it attempts to look at how many workers have registered on
digital platforms. That does not necessarily mean they are getting work but at least they are registered. What their
work has shown is that there was a very significant dip globally when COVID first hit but that has recovered in
similar ways to—roughly at pace with the different economies globally. So we are seeing the same kinds of
recoveries depending on where you are in the world based on how well you are responding to the challenges
economically.

The CHAIR: Doctor, do you mind providing us on notice a link to that Oxford index?
Dr WILLIAMS: Yes, certainly.

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: Just picking up on the comments then, | guess time will tell but anecdotally at
least | am hearing about a pressure on women now when they are working from home to be the carer and the one
who responds when the children are calling out from downstairs or wherever as opposed to the man. | wonder
about that reversal, that idea of a woman's place in her home and whether that gets eroded. But | guess we are too
early to be able to see that.

Professor COOPER: One thing that we can say is that as we both just spoke about, there is a real
gendered experience of working from home. Men working from home and women working from home especially
with [audic malfunction] experience. Going back to the question, or I think it was the question before, if we are
thinking z2out how we look at flexible working after COVID, we cannot necessarily just assume that working
from home evens out gender inequalities. In fact, we would have to properly design to ensure that what we are
doing is not actually entrenching gender inequalities at home that pre-exist at home, that pre-exist at work and
that we might make worse by assuming that we are trying to help women when in fact it could actually send us
backwards in terms of gender equality.

SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE IMPACT OF TECHNOLOGICAL AND OTHER CHANGE ON
THE FUTURE OF WORK AND WORKERS IN NEW SOUTH WALES



HHong1

Highlight



rcoo6175

Sticky Note

with children present made it an unequal and gendered experience





Monday, 19 April 2021 Legislative Council - UNCORRECTED Page 56

Professor MAYES: | would agree completely with that but I also think that it is not a matter only of
saying "time will tell". It is a matter also of acknowledging that things such as COVID and the sudden working
from home et cetera highlight ongoing inequalities that have not gone away. They are not new, they were always
there, but they were a little bit more hidden when women could go to a workplace and be somehow separate from
their domestic duties with sufficient child care. We should keep that in mind.

Professor COOPER: | would actually go a step further, I would say they were there and they have been
amplified during COVID. We are actually in a worse situation gender equality wise if we look at any of the ABS
data at the beginning of COVID. So it makes the argument that we often make as academics and scholars working
in this area, it makes it all the more urgent that we need to design public policies and business practices that
actually try to address those gaps, rather than amplify them.

The Hon. ADAM SEARLE: Just on that very topic | wanted to raise with you, Professor Cooper, and
also the other panel members if they wish, the issue of equal remuneration or the lack thereof. We are coming up
to the fifty-first anniversary of the formal acceptance of equal pay for women. Both State and Federal industrial
legislation have a fair bit to say about equal remuneration and antidiscrimination principles, but there has been
very few equal pay cases brought in either jurisdiction. In New South Wales you have not needed to have a male
comparator to establish gender inequality in terms of remuneration, but since the early 2000s the New South
Wales legislation has been confined to local government and the public sector.

My question is twofold: In what way does the law need to be changed so that we can be a bit more
proactive in identifying and eliminating not just gender inequality in terms of pay outcomes but pay
discrimination. Secondly, in relation to that—because of course the New South Wales Parliament is now limited
to discrimination law. It cannot really deal with comparable worth or equal value, that is now quarantined to the
Federal Parliament. What changes in the law should we be looking at to deal with this issue better than we have
in the last two or three decades? Secondly, given how few cases have been brought and given the resources that
are required to successfully bring such cases, is there a role for some kind of public institution to be proactive in
this space rather than leaving it to individual cases to be brought up?

Professor COOPER: Thank you, great question. I think it was Mary Gaudron who said some time ago
that we got equal pay, then we got it again and we still don't have it. | think that her comments about the early
equal pay cases where we have the principle [ iuc o malfunction] gender pay discrimination. I think what it shows
is that there is a lot at work that is the law ai.a"were is a lot at work that is related to the law but is not entirely
driven by it. You will know that presently, nationally, we have a gender pay [a i) malfunction] where we
compare full-time men's wages with full-time women's wages of 13.4 per cent. | hcaw some commentary at the
time when that was released that this was a step forward because the gender pay gap has gone down.

I think something we need to keep in mind is that the lowest quartiles of men's wages actually dropped
during the period of COVID. So that might actually be one of the drivers and | do not think that is much to
celebrate. But it also is quite scandalous that we have a gap at all between full-time men and full-time women in
the context of the very high levels of education that we have among women workers in Australia. We are the best
educated prime-age female labour force in the OECD, we are the best educated female labour force in our history.
Women are actually better educated from educational attainment than are Australian men. So having a gap at all
is a scandal. That is only comparing full-time and full-time, if we look at total wages earned or we look at the
wealth gap it is significantly higher than that.

In terms of what we might do to try to remedy that, there were some great advances as you all know in
the State jurisdictions in the earlier period. New South Wales and Queensland actually led the way in some
significant cases, which made us move away from having [« uci> malfunction]. Unfortunately, the situation we
have gotten to at a Federal level and in the context and referrar o1 powers of so many State jurisdictions, we have
a situation where the majority of workers in Australia are [uio malfunction] where we seem to be requiring male
comparators in equal pay cases and discrimination cases. 7..at to me is a dead end because women and men in
Australia work in very different jobs. Most women in Australia work in highly feminised jobs and most men work
in highly male-dominated jobs. So we just cannot put a worker who is a man and a worker who is a woman and
compare their wages and come up with some criteria for wage increases. We need to be looking at the value of
those jobs, and those two jurisdictions did a very good job sending us along.

I would argue that what we need is some € xcl 1sive advice in the Federal legislation which sees that we
do not actually need to have male comparators and uia there are other principles that might go to value or might
go to people's qualities or something like that in terms of both the way that those [ (.0 0 malfunction] operate but
also in terms of the objective of the Act more broadly. In terms of the second ques.ic.i that you asked about why
there are so few cases, they certainly have dried up as some of these full bench decisions have come down [¢ uui)
malfunction] and in the States that has been because there has been referral to the Federal work system. O..c"of
the reasons is that unions need to make those cases. That is typically how these cases appear before the Fair Work
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Commission. They are very expensive cases to run. It would be very unlikely that you have a situation where an
individual was able to bring a case. Unions think very closely about the amount of money that they are going to
spend and the likelihood of being successful in a very expensive long-running case. | think they have been quite
disappointed in terms of a range of cases most recently in child care around an equal remuneration order.

I think there is an argument to be made actually around the public good and about trying to advance
gender equality in Australia that we start to think about what the mechanisms are that the State broadly defines—
whether that is Federally or in the State governments—to think about how we can progress gender pay equality.
Whatever is happening at the moment, it is [audio "¢ 1function] and it is not reflecting the value that women have
in the labour market in terms of the jobs that they [=.d alfunction] value that produces or the skills that they
are investing themselves around. So, yes, | agree that th.cic is some room to be had in dedicated bodies within all
of our governments that have an eye to [audcalfunction] towards gender equality and trying to do something
to absolutely remedy it.

The Hon. ADAM SEARLE: Professor Cooper, | take your point about what needs to happen in the
Fair Work Act, but in the New South Wales jurisdiction what action can and should the New South Wales
Parliament take? We do not have control over equal remuneration but the Anti-Discrimination Act is still an
excluded matter under the Fair Work Act, so presumably we could still make anti-discrimination laws that deal
with pay discrimination. What could we usefully do in that space here?

Professor COOPER: You have sort of got me there, not being a pay expert about the New South Wales
system.

The Hon. ADAM SEARLE: | am happy for you to take it on notice if you want to go away and reflect
on that.

Professor COOPER: | can have a think about that and I will consult with some of our expert thinkers
in this area. We have a new special issue of the Journal of Industrial Relations which goes to precisely this issue,
where our colleagues Meg Smith and Gillian Whitehouse have written a very good piece on this. | will have a
look at that and | will come back to you. But I will tell you that there are lots of things that governments can do
that are not just about the legislation that they produce. One thing that we might look at very closely, actually, is
the very large number of employees that are employed by the State governments.

I know that some of the departments in the New South Wales Government are amongst some of the
largest employers in the Southern Hemisphere. That direct employment is also one way that governments can try
to make a difference in terms of what gender pay outcomes are for employees in the State. | would probably
characterise that as having a little bit of a look at home, as well, about our direct employees, and making sure that
what we have are equitable pay systems and that we are keeping an eye on that on a regular basis.

The Hon. ADAM SEARLE: Thank you.

The CHAIR: Professor Cooper, | want to ask you some questions about some of the points you make
on page two of your submission, particularly in paragraph (2) iii. You say that women face—well, to be fair, you
are quoting a study that says:

... women face greater threats than men to their autonomy, privacy and safety at work as a result of new technologies.

I was wondering if you could expand on that—equally, the two points above it—and whether or not there is
anything you think, were it to be placed in law right now, could curb or otherwise stop this differential and
disproportionate unjust impact?

Professor COOPER: Gender segregation, as | think I mentioned in one of my earlier answers, is quite
marked in the Australian labour force. Because there are very different labour processes and very different social
and power arrangements in terms of the way that work is organised in different sectors, it will naturally play out
differently for workers in different sectors and because of gender segregations, that plays out differently for what
would be a highly feminised workforce [audio malfunction]. I think the argument we are trying to make there is
that because we are not having a conversation about technology and how it impacts women's work, it does not
mean that the threat is not there in terms of some disruptions that might be negative.

It does not necessarily mean that there could not be positive impacts, as well, for women in those
circumstances. In that paper that we did for the Workplace Gender Equality Agency, which is about the future of
work and gender, we were particularly interested in looking at the ways in which technology has played out in
some of those highly feminised [=c’o malfunction]. You will all know, as people who have been on inquiries
that there is a significant theme er - Jing acknowledging app-based employment about businesses like Uber and
work in the transport sector. That is probably where the majority of the academic articles have actually been
written about job quality in those sectors as well.
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But, in fact, if we have a look at where we are seeing quite an explosion of app-based work, it is in that
personal services work—so, platform-based work, particularly in areas around personal care and disability care.
Some of that is attached with changes to the National Disability Insurance Scheme. Our colleagues at RMIT
University, Sara Charlesworth and Fiona Macdonald, have done some really interesting work on what that has
meant and what threats there are to the quality of work in those kinds of sectors. We are trying to point to the
ways in which we are leaving women out of the conversation and not talking about highly feminised sectors of
employment. But, in fact, we are actually seeing quite a rapid uptake of platform employment in those kinds of
areas and, in fact, they are explicitly driving down job quality.

If you talk, as we do when we interview, to some of the employers and employees who work in aged and
disability care about the ways in which contracts are structured to provide labour under some of the schemes
associated with the National Disability Insurance Scheme, they will let us know that there often is not enough in
the costing structure to allow for things such as training of workers—and even to allow for things such as transport
times between clients or for employees to be coming together to meet in the workplace—because of the design of
the scheme. So, there is a lot of threat in there for that highly feminised workforce, which is over 90 per cent
female, for what would typically be seen as caring work, which is driving down the quality of jobs. That is a very
long answer, sorry, but that is what we are trying to get at in that point.

The CHAIR: 1 appreciate that. Professor Mayes and Dr Williams, did you want to add to that?

Professor MAYES: | did just want to add a couple of points and | am sure Dr Williams has some things
to note as well. Our research into care work performed through digital platforms also shows a reduction in the
quality of work; it becomes much more precarious. But we also see a shift in risk from employers to self-employed
workers, as they are often constituted on digital platforms, which sees care workers responsible for their own
insurance; for negotiating their own health and safety; for taking on risk in terms of whether or not they are paid
and whether the environment they move into is safe; and also for negotiating a downward spiral in fees that they
can charge—nhourly rates. At the same time, people receiving care cannot be sure that carers have the requisite
training or that they have the requisite experience. I think these are also showing up in our work on a global care
platform. Dr Williams, you have done quite a bit of that work.

Dr WILLIAMS: Yes. We are certainly seeing some nuances in the risks that are associated with digital
platform work in, for example, the care sector. Certainly one of the factors to take into account there is that when
a worker who is perhaps offering disability care or child care through a digital platform signs up to that platform,
their contract is merely the terms and conditions of the platform. Any other kind of employment contract is if they
develop any employment contract with the client themselves. We have done some initial work that is as yet
unpublished—interviews with care workers on a digital platform. They were telling us they almost never have
contracts with their clients. They take on board themselves various ways of checking the safety of that work before
they take on the work.

We were hearing anecdotally from care workers things like, "Well, I drive past the house of the client
before 1 go in there, just to see where they live and to see if | think it is going to be safe. I let my mum or my
partner know where | am going to be." So, they are aware of potential safety issues but they have no formalised
structure for managing those risks. We also heard from male care workers—and female care workers—who were
telling us stories about situations they were in with the person they were caring for that were a risk to their physical
safety. Their only option was to wait until the parent or guardian returned and then not return to that job. That is
because they are taking on this work not under an agency and not under a specific employer, so the risk is all on
themselves and there is no current structure or recourse for them to address those safety issues.

The CHAIR: Thank you. | invite Ms Boyd to resume questioning if she so wishes.

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: | am just reflecting on the nature of precarious work and when we talk about
during the COVID pink recession having ended up with predominantly more vulnerable people losing jobs and
ending up in precarious situations. Do you have any insight into the extent of precarious employment when it
comes to women who are particularly more vulnerable? I am thinking about women with a disability, older
women, women who are perhaps here on temporary visas, women from culturally and linguistically diverse
backgrounds. Do you have any data on that to prove that idea of when things go bad it is people who are
particularly vulnerable who do it worse?

Professor COOPER: Our research certainly does back that up, both our Australian Women's Working
Futures survey and then we have done—25 it is now—focus groups with different occupational groupings but
also different identity groups from the labour force. We identified particular groups to have long chats to about
the experience of precarity and also things like disrespect at work, harassment—([audio ma function] harassment.
What came out from the survey was that there are particular groups who are really acuwe1y affected by some of
these issues. It is a very acute effect on vulnerability and lack of respect for workers who are Aboriginal and
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Torres Strait Islander, for workers who identify as having a disability or disabilities, workers who identify as being
culturally and linguistically diverse—in our sample, interestingly, very strongly so for women who were
themselves born in Asia and also workers who identified as being LGBTQI+ as having greater levels of disrespect
and vulnerabilities.

So that certainly does come out very strongly in our research and in our [al malfunction]. Some of
the layered disadvantage if you like—that talking about women as a whole was a very different experience for
women who are, for example, very senior corporate lawyers. That is a very different experience to workers who
work in fairly low-paid, precarious employment who have English as a second language or other vulnerabilities
that they face because of who they are. So, yes, that comes out very strongly, and the more precarious groups tend
to be those groups that | mentioned.

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: When we hear from large companies like Uber or when | have spoken with large
cleaning contract companies, they talk a lot about the flexibility that the worker wants. Listening to you just then,
| think there is obviously a clear difference between someone who is in a relatively privileged position—as you
say, a lawyer or something who wants to work from home or wants the flexibility in their hours—versus somebody
who is relying on that work in order to feed themselves and their family. Do you think that there is a basis for
regulating the gig economy separately or in a different way depending on the level of wealth of the average
worker?

Professor COOPER: Itisan interesting question. It goes right back to the fundamentals of the discipline
that I work in, which is industrial relations, and they were debates that were going on in the 1870s and 1880s when
industrial relations developed, which is about looking at the extent to which the market will freely provide
opportunities for workers that allow them to thrive in the workplace. At the time, that is when we had terms such
as "collective bargaining" and "minimum wages", which were actually developed by scholars like Sidney and
Beatrice Webb directly as a result of them arguing that in fact the market does not provide that unassisted.

I would probably say that I am not entirely sure that we need to find a way to regulate the minimums for
different types of workers depending on their background differently. But | think that what we need to do is to
ensure that what we have is a minimum that meets our requirements as a community around issues such as a living
wage, about issues such as having a voice at work, having access to the ability to gain better skills and
qualifications, and that we look at that as a minimum that is available to all workers, regardless of whether certain
platforms or employers refer to workers as employees or not. I think rather than differentially regulating, what we
need is a strong regulatory base underneath to ensure that we have as many mechanisms as possible open to ensure
that the broadest group of workers is covered by those minimums.

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: Professor Mayes or Dr Williams?

Professor MAYES: | think it is deeply problematic to try to regulate at that fine-grained level and often
there are consequences that we might not expect. | was just thinking as well, though, that part of what we have to
do is to increase the value of those feminised jobs—and | think part of that has been to raise the level of pay for
childcare workers—to perhaps consider what does it mean to have a lot of child care in Australia provided by
au pairs who earn pocket money on visas that distinctly limit their citizen rights. So | think we have to think about
our visa policies in terms of our international workforce and how technologies inform that but also how we might
want to document the kinds of work that vulnerable people do. We do not really know who does what au pair
work, and we do know that they are vulnerable, particularly at times of crisis—domestic violence rises. They
work in homes, for example. | think, too, that we need to have generalised ideas about what constitutes decent
work. | think this is what Professor Cooper is getting at as well. This is a bit vaguer, what | am saying, but it does
come back to our social understanding of the value of care work, for example, and the value of work in looking
after other human beings.

Dr WILLIAMS: Can | add, too, in relation to digital platform work, | think it is quite problematic to
regulate by different types of digital platform workers because people move in and out of digital platform work
at various stages through their life. Certainly our research shows that many people participate in digital platform
work during transitions in their life, so when they are between jobs—they have lost one job, they are seeking
another one—and that many people who leave digital platform work do so because they found a secure job.
We had respondents to our survey saying, "l found a real job" and terms like that. But platform work did provide
them with an income at a time that was particularly difficult for them, so it is difficult to say when a person is
precarious or when a person is particularly vulnerable and, therefore, to regulate for that. But as Professor Cooper
suggests, if we have a minimum standard that is there for all that also applies to digital platform workers, we are
addressing some of those issues.

Ms ABIGAIL BOYD: Thank you.
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The CHAIR: We have one minute left so if any member has a particularly pressing question now is the
time. Otherwise, we might close it there. Firstly, | thank Professor Cooper, Professor Mayes and Dr Williams for
the time you spent with us this afternoon as well as for your really interesting and excellent submissions, which
were of most use to the inquiry. You have taken some questions on natice, for which you will have 21 days after
receipt of the transcript from the secretariat to return answers. Again, thank you so much for spending your
afternoon with us.

Professor COOPER: Thank you for the opportunity. Good luck.
Dr WILLIAMS: Thank you for the opportunity. We look forward to your report.
(The witnesses withdrew.)
The Committee adjourned at 17:13.
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1 | INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic, and the physical distancing and isolation measures enacted to contain it, profoundly

affected both how people spent their time and where they spent it. School closures and health fears increased the
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need for family care, and workplace lockdowns saw hundreds of thousands of people switch to working from home.
This significantly blurred the temporal and spatial boundaries between paid work and caring for others.

Finding time for both paid work and family care is a significant challenge for contemporary households. The time
demands are particularly pressing upon mothers who wish to maintain their attachment to paid work while their chil-
dren are young (Jacobs & Gerson, 2004). Many parents are dissatisfied with the balance between their work and
family lives but it is especially problematic for women (Craig & Brown, 2017). The growth in women's employment
was widely expected to have a corresponding effect on men’s unpaid work (Bergmann, 2005). However, for reasons
including inflexible workplace expectations and persistent masculine gender norms, most men still prioritize employ-
ment over home duties (Gornick & Meyers, 2009), and progress towards gender equality in paid and unpaid labour
has been very gradual (Sullivan, Gershuny, & Robinson, 2018). On average, men have increased the time they spend
on housework only marginally and while fathers are spending more time on childcare, mothers still spend two to
three times more time with children than fathers daily (Craig & Brown, 2017).

Balancing work and family can be assisted by government and workplace policies such as subsidized childcare,
paid maternity and paternity leave, the right to request part-time work, flexible working hours and, centrally relevant
to this article, options to work from home (Crompton, 2006; Lewis, 2009). However, many parents do not have
access to ‘family-friendly’ workplace measures, and even when they are formally available, there may be unwritten
sanctions against accessing them, particularly for men (Gregory & Milner, 2009). Men may be reluctant to take up
family-friendly provisions in case they are regarded as uncommitted to their work (Rubery & Grimshaw, 2003).
Reflecting long-standing role expectations of mothers as caregivers and fathers as breadwinners, it is usually
mothers, not fathers, who adjust their work patterns to meet the care needs of the family (Ranson, 2012; Warren,
Fox, & Pascall, 2009).

The COVID-19 restrictions temporarily removed a gendered fault line in external constraint, by requiring men
and women alike to stay home, even if they were still employed. So, what happens when the spatial organization of
paid work and unpaid domestic work and care is not so different for mothers and fathers? This article reports early
results of a survey (N = 2772), conducted between 7 and 30 May 2020, on how COVID-19 affected paid work,
domestic work and care in Australian households. The survey investigated how gender differences in objective time
spent on these activities, and in subjective feelings about it, changed due to the pandemic.

As context for the survey findings, we first give a brief overview of the Australian response to COVID-19 and

previous gendered patterns in working from home in Australia.

1.1 | Australian experience and government response to COVID-19

Australia had a swift and aggressive government response to COVID-19. There were national and state border clo-
sures, and strict workplace lockdowns, which were supported with government income maintenance for many
whose jobs were lost or threatened. Altogether, the government announced support packages amounting to over
10 per cent of national gross domestic product (GDP). Eligibility criteria for unemployment benefits were relaxed
and the payment level to recipients doubled to $1100 a fortnight. A wage subsidy programme to pay employers
$1500 a fortnight for each employee they kept on the payroll was implemented. When it became apparent that
many essential front line workers were women who would be unable to work without childcare, formal childcare
was made temporarily free to parents, through adjustments to the payment system such that services received a
weekly ‘business continuity payment’ from the government (Department of Education, Skills and
Employment, 2020). This was a remarkable intervention, because Australian childcare is usually very costly; it is
amongst the most expensive in the world, nearly five times the European average (Adamson & Brennan, 2017).

From late January 2020, COVID cases initially grew sharply. However, due to the closures and physical distanc-
ing measures, they levelled out at about 350 per day by late March, fell to under 20 cases per day by late April and
to fewer than 10 cases a day through May. As of 30 May, 7184 cases and 102 deaths had been reported in
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Australia. The relatively early strict lockdown had so far contained the spread of the disease. At the same time, eco-
nomic impacts have been large, and early indications are that women have been the most affected in both job loss
and reduced hours (Australian Bureau of Statistics [ABS], 2020). Unemployment is at 8 per cent, and expected to go
higher, and GDP is expected to fall by at least 7 per cent.

1.2 | Working at home in Australia

The dominant work-family arrangement in heterosexual Australian households is that the male partner works
full-time and the female partner works part-time (1% earner family model). Childcare is expensive and organiza-
tional work-family supports are thin (Adamson & Brennan, 2017). To balance work and family demands, most
Australian women limit their paid work hours and move in and out of the workforce as family care needs
change (Craig & Mullan, 2009). Women are disproportionately likely to be employed in ‘casual’ jobs without
benefits such as sick and annual leave, to work variable and insecure hours and to be in positions which under-
utilize their education and skill levels (Charlesworth & MacDonald, 2015). Some seek to meet the challenges by
becoming self-employed, often explicitly so they can work from home and care for children more flexibly
(Foley, Baird, Cooper, & Williamson, 2018).

Consistent with this work-family context, prior to COVID-19 the profile of at-home workers in Australia was
gendered, with women more likely than men to work at home regularly (Powell & Craig, 2015). It was most common
amongst public sector employees, professionals, the tertiary educated and mothers with dependent children. For
both men and women, working at home was associated with higher subjective time stress and did not facilitate bet-
ter work-life balance in the sense of increasing time in leisure and personal activities (Powell & Craig, 2015). For
women, working at home was associated with less paid work and more domestic work and care, amounting to a
higher workload overall. It also involved more multitasking, with many women blurring the boundaries between
employment and family demands by performing paid work whilst supervising children at the same time. In contrast,
men working at home did not do fewer paid work hours, more unpaid work or more multitasking than men working
outside the home. They maintained more distinct boundaries between employment and domestic activities than
home-working women did (Powell & Craig, 2015). The implication is that women were motivated to work from home

to maximize their care time, but that this was not the case for men.

1.3 | Summary

Under COVID-19, working at home spiked due to an abrupt external shock. The period of sudden state-supported
lockdown provides a rare view of what happens when long-standing external constraints on how and where men
and women work are removed. We take this opportunity to find out how the disruption affected gender patterns in
both time allocation and in subjective feelings about it. We focus on dual-earner couples with children, because this
is the most time-stressed demographic group (Jacobs & Gerson, 2004), for whom work-family balance is a particu-
larly major challenge.

2 | APPROACH AND METHOD

To measure the impact of COVID-19 we developed the Work and Care in the Time of COVID-19 survey. Over a
3-week period during lockdown, 7 May to 30 May 2020, we collected 2722 responses from Australian residents.
The survey asked respondents for demographic information, and about change in their employment arrangements,
including their work status and work location before and after the advent of COVID-19. To examine how COVID-19
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impacted parents in dual-earner couples, we restricted the sample to employed, partnered men and women with chil-
dren under the age of 17 (n = 1536). See Table A1 for a sample description.

To capture time allocation, respondents were asked how many hours per day they spent in (i) paid work; (i) care
of children, the elderly, sick and/or those living with a disability; and (iii) housework and household management. As
care is often multitasked, and its magnitude is underestimated if simultaneous activity is overlooked (Craig, 2006),
we asked about both active and supervisory care. Active care was defined as ‘hands-on activities such as bathing,
feeding, dressing, teaching, playing, soothing, taking people to appointments, and similar activities where you are
interacting directly with the other person’. Supervisory care was defined as

time when you are not interacting with the person being cared for but are responsible for them and ‘on-call’ should
active care be needed. In other words, if you had to go somewhere else, you would need to get someone to fill in for you.

Housework included activities like cooking, cleaning, repairs and maintenance, shopping, lawn and garden care,
and laundry, and household management activities like scheduling, planning, making shopping lists and paying bills.

To capture subjective feelings about time allocation, respondents were asked a series of questions including
‘how often do you feel rushed or pressed for time?' with responses on a five-point Likert scale, from ‘always’ to ‘never.
Respondents were also asked about ‘how satisfied are you with how you divide your time between paid and unpaid
work?' and ‘how satisfied are you with how you and your partner share housework and unpaid care?. Responses were
given on a five-point Likert scale from ‘extremely dissatisfied’ to ‘extremely satisfied. We also asked respondents ‘do
you think you did your fair share of housework and unpaid care? with response categories ranging from ‘much more
than my fair share’ to ‘much less than my fair share’. All questions were asked first in relation to before the COVID-
19-related restrictions were imposed, and then regarding the time while the restrictions were in place.

We present descriptive results for these measures. Results are weighted using estimates from the 2016
Australian Bureau of Statistics’ Census of Population and Housing to be representative of Australian men and
women based on age, sex and highest level of education. On the reports of time we conducted t-tests to
determine whether gender differences were statistically significant before and during COVID. For the other vari-
ables we used chi-square tests of independence to see if there were significant gender differences before and
during COVID-19.

3 | RESULTS

Table 1 shows the work status and location of fathers and mothers who had been employed before COVID-19 and
whether they were different during the restrictions. We also asked them to report on their partner's employment
details. There was no significant gender difference in having the same job either before or after COVID-19. About
92 per cent of both fathers and mothers kept the same position, with less than 10 per cent of each gender losing
their job, being stood down or finding work elsewhere. This was largely the same for their partners, although the fig-
ures were slightly higher for partners remaining in the same job since COVID-19 began.

Consistent with the dominant Australian pattern, there was a significant gender difference in full- or part-time
status both before and during the pandemic. Before COVID-19, 84 per cent of fathers and 49 per cent of mothers
were employed full-time; conversely, 16 per cent of fathers and 51 per cent of mothers were employed part-time.
These gender differences narrowed during COVID, however, largely due to change amongst fathers. The proportion
of fathers employed full-time was about 11 percentage points lower, and the proportion of fathers employed part-
time about 11 percentage points higher, during the pandemic. There was little change for mothers, suggesting that
overall more jobs became part-time. Fathers’ and mothers’ reports of their partners’ employment status before and
during COVID-19 largely mirrored their own changes in employment status over the period (see Table 1). The drops
in hours were reflected in earnings. Fathers’ average reported earnings were about $100 dollars per week less and
mothers’ average reported earnings were about $75 dollars per week less, during the lockdown than they had been
before.
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There were fewer gender differences in the location of work, particularly pre-COVID. Before COVID-19, 68 per
cent of fathers and 64 per cent of mothers worked at a workplace away from home. There was a slightly higher pro-
portion of mothers than fathers who worked at home (6 per cent vs. 4 per cent), or both at home and away, than
fathers (30 per cent vs. 28 per cent). During COVID-19 most respondents were working at home. There were slightly
more fathers than mothers doing so (72 per cent vs. 69 per cent), but gender-similar proportions were working away
from home (12 per cent), or both at home and away from home (12-13 per cent). Respondents’ reports of their part-
ners’ work location indicate that about 70 and 77 per cent of fathers’ and mothers’ partners, respectively, worked
away from home before COVID-19. During COVID-19 almost two-thirds of fathers’ partners were working from home
compared to just 54 per cent of mothers’ partners. However, overall, most respondents were in households in which
both they and their partner had gone out to work before the pandemic but were both working at home during it.

3.1 | Time in paid and unpaid work before and during COVID-19

Against this background of moderate change in employment status and earnings, but substantial change in work
location, we examined respondents’ time allocation to paid and unpaid work activities (see Table 2). T-tests show sig-
nificant differences between fathers and mothers.

Pre-COVID-19, fathers in dual-earner couples averaged more daily paid work hours than mothers in dual-earner
couples (7.14 vs. 6.62 hours, p < 0.001). At the time of being surveyed, average work hours had gone down by
7.8 per cent for fathers and 8.5 per cent for mothers to 6.58 and 6.06 hours (p < 0.001), respectively. Women spent
significantly more daily hours on housework and household management than men (2.13 vs. 1.66 hours, p < 0.001)
before COVID-19-related restrictions. During lockdown, daily time on housework and household management was
about 45 minutes higher for men and almost an hour higher for women. Notwithstanding that both fathers and
mothers were doing more housework and household management, the relative gender gap in these activities

remained constant at 22 per cent across the period.

TABLE 2 Respondents’ hours a day in paid and unpaid work

Activity Pre-COVID Now
Men Women Sig diff Men Women Sig diff
Paid work 7.14 6.62 6.58 6.06
Housework/household management 1.66 2.13 24 3.09
Active care
Children 221 3.41 3.64 513
Elderly 0.08 0.10 0.03 0.15 -
Sick/disabled persons 0.14 0.14 0.21 0.21
TOTAL AS PRIMARY ACTIVITY 11.23 12.4 12.72 14.64
Supervisory care
Children 1.88 3.08 3.25 4.69
Elderly 0.10 0.10 0.11 0.16 .
Sick/disabled persons 0.14 0.14 0.18 0.18
TOTAL SUPERVISORY CARE 212 3.32 3.54 5.03
:Source. Work and Care in the Time of COVID-19 Craig & Churchill (2020)..
p<005.
p < 0.01.

""p < 0.001.
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TABLE 3 Respondents’ subjective time pressure and satisfaction (%)

Pre-COVID Now

Men Women Men Women

| feel rushed or pressed for time

Never 276 0.33 4.23 2.92
Seldom 10.34 1.84 21.13 1836
Sometimes 35.17 2371 2676  27.96
Often 40.69 51.25 2394 2396
Always 11.03 22.87 2394 2679

Chi-square test

Regarding how | divide my time between paid and unpaid work, | am

Extremely dissatisfied 2.76 5.51 11.19 24.37
Somewhat dissatisfied 27.59 3810 33.57 3325
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 2690 14.95 16.78 13.07
Somewhat satisfied 36.55 35.84 2727 2446
Extremely satisfied 6.21 5.60 11.19 4.86

Chi-square test

Do you think you did your fair share of housework and unpaid care?

Much more than my fair share 242 20.86 4.07 3236
More than my fair share 9.68 39.02 21.14 30.86
My fair share 65.32 33.83 62.60 31.26
Less than my fair share 16.94 4.29 7.32 3.71
Bit less than my fair share 4.03 1.30 3.25 0.90
Much less my fair share 1.61 0.70 1.63 0.90

Chi-square test

How satisfied were you with how you and your partner share housework
and unpaid care

Extremely dissatisfied 0.00 9.48 0.82 18.54
Somewhat dissatisfied 13.71  36.73 20.49 31.96
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied 27.42 15.77 23.77 14.03
Somewhat satisfied 38.71 27.35 36.07 24.75
Extremely satisfied 20.16 10.68 18.85 10.72

Chi-square test

Source. Work and Care in the Time of COVID-19 Craig & Churchill (2020)
“'p < 0.001.

Before COVID-19, mothers averaged 3.41 daily hours in active care of children compared to 2.21 daily hours for
fathers. This difference was significant at the 1 per cent level and indicates that prior to COVID-19 restrictions being
in place, the gender gap was about 54 per cent. This decreased to 40 per cent during COVID-19 because fathers’
hours went up by 64 per cent (to 3.64 hours per day) whereas mothers went up by 50 per cent (to 5.13 hours per
day). On average, fathers and mothers spent similar, small amounts of time caring for others and the elderly before
COVID-19. However, during COVID-19 fathers spent less time caring for the elderly and mothers spent more. Both
fathers’ and mothers’ average active care for someone who was sick or living with a disability rose slightly, from 0.14
to 0.21 hours per day.
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Prior to COVID-19-related restrictions, mothers’ average daily time allocation to housework and household
management and active care combined was about 1 hour and 40 minutes more than fathers’ (5.78 vs. 4.09 hours per
day, p < 0.001). During the restrictions, mothers’ combined time in these activities had increased by 2.8 hours to
8.58 hours per day, a rise of 48 per cent. Fathers’ reported increases in these activities combined to 2.2 hours per
day, taking them to 6.28 hours per day, a rise of 53 per cent. Thus, before COVID mothers were spending around
about 1.7 hours more than men on these activities together, and during the lockdown this had increased to 2.3 hours
per day. However, the relative gender gap narrowed from 41 to 36 per cent, largely because during COVID-19
fathers’ active care for children was 64 per cent higher than it had been before, compared to only a 50 per cent
increase by mothers.

As was the case for active care, prior to COVID-19-related restrictions, mothers spent more daily hours super-
vising children than men did (3.08 vs. 1.88 hours, p < 0.001). This amounted to a gender gap of around 63 per cent,
which decreased to 44 per cent during COVID-19, because the relative increase was about 72 per cent for fathers
compared to about 52 per cent for mothers. Fathers and mothers spent similar amounts of time providing supervi-
sory care for the elderly, sick and disabled prior to COVID-19. There were small increases in fathers’ and mothers’
supervisory care of the elderly and sick or those living with disability during COVID-19, with mothers' increases rela-
tively higher.

Prior to COVID-19, mothers spent 3.32 hours per day on supervisory care activities combined, significantly lon-
ger than fathers did (2.12 hours per day). During the lockdown, mothers’ time in secondary activities was up
1.71 hours and fathers’ time in supervisory care up 1.42 hours. This amounted to a 40 per cent increase in supervi-
sory activities by fathers, compared to a 34 per cent increase by mothers. Again, although the absolute time increase
was higher for mothers, the relative increase was higher for fathers. Thus, the gender gap in combined supervisory
activities narrowed, from 56 to 42 per cent.

In summary, during the pandemic respondents were averaging slightly less paid work, and substantially more
unpaid work, than they had been prior to it. Absolute time increases in unpaid work were higher for mothers. How-
ever, compared to before COVID-19, the increases in childcare (though not housework/household management)
were proportionally higher for fathers, which narrowed relative gender differences in care. We now explore whether
these changes were reflected in respondents’ subjective feelings about how they and their partners spent their time.

3.2 | Subjective feelings about time allocation before and during COVID-19

In Table 3, Chi-square tests indicate that differences between fathers and mothers on all the subjective measures
were statistically significant at the less than 1 per cent level. There were also substantial differences before and after
the COVID-19 restrictions, with some contrasting patterns for fathers and mothers.

First, results indicate the COVID-related changes were associated with narrowed gender gaps in time stress. Just
over 11 per cent of fathers ‘always’ felt rushed before COVID-19, compared to almost 24 per cent during the restric-
tions. Before COVID-19 almost 23 per cent of mothers always felt rushed and this increased slightly to almost
27 per cent during COVID-19. This indicates that for a significant subset of women, extreme time pressure remained
constant regardless of the pandemic-related restrictions, and that for many fathers, extreme time pressure increased.
As a result, the difference between men and women who always felt rushed closed from 11 to 3 percentage points
during COVID-19.

However, for most respondents, subjective time pressure lessened. There was a significant drop of 27 points in
the proportion of mothers who ‘often’ felt rushed, going from just over 51 per cent pre-COVID to around 24 per
cent during the restrictions. The proportion of fathers who often felt rushed also decreased (by 17 points). The result
is that during COVID-19 there was a greater similarity in the proportion of fathers and mothers who ‘often’ felt
rushed or pressed for time. Pre-COVID, fathers were 12 points more likely to report ‘sometimes’ feeling rushed than

mothers. During COVID, there was more gender similarity in feeling sometimes rushed (27-28 per cent for both
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mothers and fathers). Correspondingly, we observed an increase in those who ‘seldom’ or ‘never’ felt rushed, particu-
larly for mothers, for whom the proportion in these categories was ten times higher during COVID than prior to it
(2.1 per cent vs. 21 per cent). As a result, the gender difference narrowed from over ten points pre-COVID to four
points during the restrictions.

Taken together, the results suggest that a substantial proportion of mothers, especially, were relieved of time
pressure during COVID-19, generating greater equality between fathers and mothers in this regard. Post hoc analysis
showed that many of the mothers who were less time stressed during COVID-19 were working away from home at
a workplace while their partner was working from home. This suggests leaving the house to work lessened mothers’
time pressure by allowing them to concentrate on their job and that, conversely, more fathers than before experi-
enced the stress of juggling and/or multitasking paid work and unpaid care.

Around 3 per cent of fathers and just over 5 per cent of mothers reported that before COVID-19 they were
‘extremely’ dissatisfied with how they divided their time between paid and unpaid work, compared to 11 and 24 per
cent, respectively, during the pandemic. The gender gap widened on this measure due to the much higher rise for
mothers than fathers. There were also increases in the percentage of fathers who reported feeling ‘somewhat’ dissat-
isfied, moving from 27.6 per cent before COVID-19 to 33.5 per cent during, while conversely the proportion of
mothers who reported feeling ‘somewhat’ dissatisfied decreased from 38 to 33 per cent. This narrowed the gender
difference in this measure. Overall, the proportion of fathers who reported being ‘extremely’ or ‘somewhat’ dissatis-
fied increased by 12 percentage points from 31 per cent before COVID-19 to 43 per cent during the restrictions.
Across the two categories, mothers reported a similar increase of 14 points. As a result, the gap between fathers and
mothers who reported feeling either ‘extremely’ or ‘somewhat’ dissatisfied remained substantial at between 10 and
12 percentage points over the period.

At the other end of the scale, we found that before COVID-19, almost 44 per cent of fathers and 41 per cent of
mothers had been ‘extremely’ or ‘somewhat’ satisfied with how they divided their time between paid and unpaid
work. During the restrictions, the proportions of fathers and mothers across these categories fell to 38 and 30 per
cent, respectively. Overall, results suggest the pandemic restrictions substantially decreased satisfaction with how
people divided their time between paid and unpaid work, but did so most for mothers, and did not ameliorate pre-
existing gender gaps.

Respondents were also asked about whether they felt they did their fair share of housework and unpaid care.
Before COVID-19, there were significant gender gaps: 59 per cent of mothers reported doing ‘much more’ or ‘more’
than their fair share compared with about 11 per cent of fathers who reported the same, a gap of 48 percentage
points. During COVID-19 this narrowed to 27 points because the proportion of fathers reporting doing ‘much more’
or ‘more’ than their fair share rose (14 points) while the proportion of mothers reporting the same fell (7 points).
Notably, the proportion of mothers reporting that they were doing ‘much more’ went up much more for mothers
(14 points) than for fathers (2 points). As a result, a third of mothers felt like they were doing ‘much more’ than their
fair share of housework and unpaid care during COVID-19 and the gender difference had widened from 18 to
28 points. Fathers and mothers reporting doing their fair share remained steady and there was a 9-point drop in the
proportion of fathers reporting doing less than their fair share, which narrowed the gender gap on this measure.

Doing more than one’s fair share may not in itself be a problem for people (Baxter, 2002), so we also asked
respondents how satisfied they were with how they shared their housework and unpaid care with their partner.
Before the pandemic, just over 13 per cent of fathers reported feeling somewhat dissatisfied and none reported feel-
ing extremely dissatisfied. In contrast, 37 per cent of mothers reported feeling somewhat dissatisfied and a further
9 per cent reported feeling extremely dissatisfied. This amounted to 46 per cent of mothers, and there was thus a
very wide pre-existing gender gap of around 30 points in those expressing dissatisfaction with partner’s shares. The
gender gap was similar during the lockdown, but the balance between the two sub-categories had changed. More
fathers felt ‘somewhat’ dissatisfied (up 13 points) and fewer mothers felt the same (down 5 points). However, the
proportion of mothers reporting they were ‘extremely’ dissatisfied almost doubled from 9 to 18 per cent. Overall,

the results suggest that both fathers and mothers were more dissatisfied with how they shared housework and
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unpaid care with their partner during COVID-19, but the dissatisfaction was much more extreme amongst women,
from a much higher base to start with. During the pandemic more than half the mothers felt either extremely or
somewhat dissatisfied with their partner’s share, compared to 21 per cent of fathers.

4 | DISCUSSION

This article drew on results of an online survey fielded in May 2020, to probe how COVID-19, and the restrictions
requiring people to stay at home, affected paid work, unpaid domestic work and care in Australian households. Even
in dual-earner households, before the pandemic Australian fathers were much less likely than Australian mothers to
take the major responsibility for housework and care in the home (Craig & Powell, 2012). By mandating that people
work at home unless employed in an essential service, the lockdown and restrictions temporarily removed an impor-
tant and long-standing spatial constraint on men’s domestic participation, potentially facilitating more gender-equal
divisions of labour. We examined whether either gender differences in objective time spent in paid and unpaid work,
or in subjective feelings about it, changed due to the pandemic.

As expected, there was significant disruption to work patterns during COVID-19. Both fathers and mothers
were much more likely to be working from home during the lockdown. Relatively few respondents had lost their
jobs, but some had been stood down and a significant minority of fathers had transitioned from full- to part-time sta-
tus. Respondents were averaging slightly less time in paid work, and earnings had dropped, suggesting pay cuts com-
mensurate with shorter or lost hours (see Table 1). Most respondents’ partners were also working from home,
suggesting that the most common experience amongst our sample was both partners doing so. Unsurprisingly with
more people at home, the burden of unpaid work across households was significantly higher during the lockdown.
This was the case for both fathers and mothers. Across the board, there was an increase in unpaid domestic work
and care, that added substantially to household workload overall. In addition to more people at home creating more
housework, amongst our sample the purchase of domestic services such as cleaning, laundry and childcare had
plummeted (results available on request). Against this backdrop, our results indicate a substantial transfer of produc-
tive labour from the paid sector back to households.

In combination, active care and housework/household management rose by just over an hour and a half for
fathers and by 2 hours and 30 minutes for mothers. If supervisory care (usually multitasked as ‘secondary activity’
while doing something else at the same time) is taken account of, men'’s daily unpaid work effort rose by over three
and a half hours, and women'’s daily unpaid work effort rose by over four and a half hours a day. Prior research on
working at home in Australia found that for women, but not men, home-working was associated with more multi-
tasking, and more domestic work and care, amounting to a higher workload overall (Powell & Craig, 2015). The cur-
rent results suggest that during the pandemic, both fathers and mothers experienced these effects. This is
unsurprising when so many couples’ work and care was now concentrated into the same place at the same time, with
many trying to do both at once.

Absolute increases in unpaid labour were higher for mothers than for fathers, but compared to their aver-
age input prior to the pandemic, the proportional differences were higher for fathers. This narrowed relative
gender differences in care time. Thus, during COVID-19, Australian fathers significantly narrowed the gender
gaps in both active and in supervisory care of children. Notably, however, gender gaps in housework and
household management remained over the period of analysis and thus did not become relatively more equal.
The implication is that men prefer to increase their time with children than to increase their shares of house-
work and household management, likely because the former is more rewarding than the latter. The result is
consistent with long-term trends worldwide, which find that men’s time in childcare has grown more substan-
tially than their time in housework (Sullivan et al., 2018). Mothers retained even more disproportionate respon-
sibility for the often more boring and burdensome tasks of housework and household management (Craig,
2006) than they did for care.





76 WI LEY CRAIG AND CHURCHILL

Also, the relative increase in men’s care time was enough to narrow the gender gaps, but not to remove them.
This ongoing absolute difference, as well as the sustained relative disparity in housework and household manage-
ment, may explain why the same proportion of mothers (around 25 per cent) always felt rushed both before and dur-
ing the pandemic. Notable, however, was that during COVID-19 more fathers also felt similarly to women on this
measure, suggesting that for some, their increased involvement in unpaid work was resulting in subjective time strain
to match that felt by mothers.

However, for most respondents, subjective time pressure was lower during the pandemic than it was before. A
substantial proportion of women, especially, reported less time pressure during COVID-19, and there was much
greater equality between men and women on this measure than before the pandemic. This is likely at least partly
because external schedules for work, school and commuting were relaxed, so some parents could be more flexible in
how they managed their time. ‘Normally’, time stress on working parents arises not only from how much they do, but
also from when it must be done (Craig & Powell, 2013). For many employed mothers, particularly, the morning and
early evenings were narrow time windows at each end of their paid working day, into which time-critical unpaid
work activities had to be concentrated. For example, the deadline-filled time crunch of the evening ‘family rush hour’
involved leaving work, picking up children from school or day care, cooking dinner, helping children with homework,
bathing, feeding and readying them for bed (Craig & Brown, 2017). Rigid schedules are an additional time stressor,
and our results suggest that for most parents, and particularly mothers, during the lockdown external constraints
were looser. So notwithstanding higher overall workloads, and doing more activities at the same time, feelings of
being rushed broadly fell. Going forward, lower time stress could continue if workplaces allow more employees to
continue to work more flexibly from home.

Notwithstanding the lower time pressure, however, both more fathers and more mothers were dissatisfied with
the way they divided their time between paid and unpaid work during the lockdown than they had been before. This
is more consistent with the higher unpaid workloads they were taking on and with having to do more simultaneously,
like supervising children while trying to work. However, there were gender contrasts in how this influenced their per-
ceptions of fairness and satisfaction with their partner’s contribution. Many more men reported doing ‘much more’
or ‘more’ than their fair share of housework/management and unpaid care during COVID-19, compared to very few
thinking so before the pandemic. At the same time, there was an even bigger rise in women feeling this way, from a
very much higher pre-COVID-19 base. Consistent with this, dissatisfaction with how housework and unpaid care
was shared with their partners went up for fathers from a very low base, but went up more for mothers, and from a
much higher starting point. Since the increases in mothers’ workload were objectively higher than fathers, men were
less likely than women to be actually doing more than their partner. So, these results suggest that men doing more
unpaid care than they used to and narrowing but by no means closing the gender gap, made more of them feel it
was unfair, and that their partner was not carrying their weight. Mothers were already doing more and added more
to their workload during the lockdown than fathers did, and this further negatively affected their perceptions of rela-
tive fairness and compounded their already high dissatisfaction with their partner’s share.

There were exceptions to this general finding, which could be related to whether both partners were there to
pitch in. Having a partner working at home was reported by 54 per cent of mothers compared to 65 per cent of
fathers. Post hoc analysis found that mothers with partners who continued to go out to work were 9 percentage
points more dissatisfied than mothers with partners who worked all or some of the time at home. This suggests
greater satisfaction for some mothers was linked to the presence of a partner in the home to share the extra burden

of unpaid work and care during COVID-19 more evenly.

5 | CONCLUSION

In summary, results on how the pandemic restrictions affected gender equality in the home were mixed. In some

ways the findings confirm what many have been saying for decades; men need to do more at home to improve
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gender equality. Enforced restrictions during COVID-19 were associated with increases in fathers’ time with children
and somewhat narrowed the gendered childcare gap between parents in dual-earner households. On the other hand,
mothers’ unpaid work time went up even more, and a significant proportion of them still reported feeling that they
were doing much more than their fair share and were even more dissatisfied with how they and their partners shared
unpaid work and care during COVID-19. However, here again there was more gender equality, of a sort. With every-
one’s workload higher, more fathers than hitherto reported the high levels of subjective time stress, unfairness and
dissatisfaction with actively juggling (too much) paid work and unpaid domestic labour and care, that women have

long felt.
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APPENDIX A

TABLE A1 Sample description (means and proportions)

Variable Men Women

Household composition®

Living with an opposite-sex partner 95.15 92.65
Living with a same-sex partner 8.00 9.67
Living with trans or non-binary partner 4.44 0.28
Living with other family members 18 years or older 45.83 44.63
Living with housemates 2.44 7.34
Living with children aged between 0 and 4 77.27 75.23
Living with children aged between 5 and 12 90.43 87.25
Living with children aged between 13 and 17 57.75 64.44
Have persons in household who are sick 4.07 3.81
Have persons in household who need assistance with activities 12.28 18.53
Average number of people in household 3.60 (.1) 3.68(.1)
Average weekly earnings before COVID-19 1623.42 1324.13
Average weekly earnings during COVID-19 1563.01 1276.67
Average age of respondent 44.8 (.8) 427 (.2)
Country of birth

Australia 76.57 81.59
Other 23.43 18.41
Location

Urban 84.09 80.41
Regional 10.80 14.55
Rural 511 5.03

Highest level of educational qualifications

Bachelor’s degree or higher (incl. masters, PhD) 81.61 88.46
Graduate diploma, graduate certificate 8.62 6.18
Certificate I, I, Il 5.75 3.50
Year 12 or below 4.02 1.86

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander status
Does identify as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander origin 0.00 0.62
Does not identify as Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander origin 100.00 99.38

@Percentages do not add up to 100.
Source. Work and Care in the Time of COVID-19 Craig & Churchill (2020).
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Introduction

The year 2020 marks the 10th anniversary of the Paid Parental Leave Act 2010, an
act that significantly altered the Australian policy landscape. This anniversary
offers an important point in time to trace the changes in paid parental leave
policy in Australia alongside shifts in two other domains of paid parental leave,
namely workplace agreement outcomes and employer policies. This article exam-
ines the impact of changes in these three domains over the last 10 years, and
assesses where we are now when it comes to gender equality in Australia. In
understanding gender equality, we refer both to increasing women’s attachment
to the labour market and increasing men’s participation in childcare. We apply and
link two conceptual approaches to assess the degree to which these changes may
have contributed to greater gender equality: Baird’s orientations to maternity leave
(Baird, 2004) and Brighouse and Wright’s (2008) equality framework.

The article begins with an overview of the literature on the relationship between
parental leave policies and gender equality. This is followed by an outline of the
hybrid parental leave framework in Australia, which includes three domains of
parental leave provision: the government scheme, enterprise or workplace bargain-
ing and company policies. These have hitherto been rarely examined together yet
they comprise the total context through which paid parental leave is provided
in Australia." In order to do this, we analyse data from a range of sources over
a 10-year period. The article concludes with a discussion of what these changes in
the provision of paid parental leave have meant for where we are today when it
comes to gender equality in Australia, before drawing conclusions about what is
required next to improve equality further.

Parental leave policies and equality

There are widely acknowledged tensions in the capacity of parental leave policies
to achieve gender equality at work and in the home. On the one hand parental
leave policies have the potential to improve workplace gender equality, and on the
other they may reinforce gender roles and inequalities. Parental leave policies have
the potential to improve workplace gender equality by supporting women to
remain attached to paid employment while their children are very young (Ray
et al., 2010: 198) and mitigating the impacts of having children on earnings and
retirement incomes, provided they are designed in the right way. Paid parental
leave of a duration of at least 26 weeks improves the stability of labour market
attachment, reduces the risk of dropping out of the labour market, and mitigates
reductions in incomes arising from childbearing and rearing (Australian Human
Rights Commission (AHRC), 2013; Ray et al., 2010). Providing leave at wage
replacement levels is more effective in mitigating the effects of childbearing and
rearing on incomes, and options for taking leave flexibly can also improve oppor-
tunities for labour market attachment during the early months and years of a
child’s life. However, unless also coupled with policies to encourage men to use
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this leave, the previous measures will be limited to mitigating the impact on
women’s work, rather than attempting to redistribute work and care across gen-
ders (Bergqvist and Saxonberg, 2016; Karu and Tremblay, 2018).

Parental leave policies also have the potential to reinforce unequal divisions of
labour between men and women. Where schemes are predominantly used by
women, parental leave provisions risk ‘consolidating [women’s] primary responsi-
bility for caring roles and extending their vulnerability to career penalties associ-
ated with workplace absence’ (Farrelly and Whitehouse, 2013: 246). Consequently,
for parental leave policies to be successful in improving gender equality, they need
to be provided in a context that also enables or encourages take-up by men (Baird
and O’Brien, 2015: 200; Ray et al., 2010: 199).

Baird (2004) identified three orientations to parental leave policy-making in
Australia in the early 21st century: ‘welfare’, ‘bargaining’ and ‘business’, and
argued that none of these provided full equality for working women. The welfare
approach, preferred by government, focused on fertility and population growth
but payment at minimum levels. The bargaining approach taken by unions focused
on providing working women with an entitlement that guaranteed wage replace-
ment. The business approach taken by organisations focused on the attraction and
retention of skilled women to business, usually through providing wage replace-
ment provisions (Baird, 2004). These policy orientations have the potential to
shape gender equality outcomes in different ways. The bargaining approach and
business approaches, paid at wage replacement, provide more adequate
approaches to supporting women to maintain attachment to the labour market
and mitigating the effects of childbearing on incomes. However, they are selective
in application, covering only a proportion of workers either under workplace
agreements or company policies, and unless available to both mothers and fathers,
may reinforce women’s use of leave and thereby their care role. In contrast, the
welfare approach offers more universal coverage, but focuses on women’s role as
childbearers and pays at a low rate, with poorer outcomes for women’s labour
market attachment and lifetime incomes. The net result of these orientations oper-
ating concurrently is the fragmented and inequitable provision of paid maternity
or parental leave to Australia’s growing female workforce, and an emphasis on
women rather than men.

Although the focus of Baird’s typology is the way in which different policy
orientations shape gender equality in labour market outcomes, Brighouse and
Wright (2008) offer a framework for understanding the extent to which parental
leave policies shape gender equality in the distribution of both work and care. They
identify three categories: ‘equality impeding’ provisions that are either limited to
mothers or are unpaid so likely to be used exclusively by mothers; ‘equality
enabling’ provisions that provide leave for families rather than mothers but with-
out being accompanied by measures to encourage parents to share the entitlement;
and ‘equality promoting’ provisions that encourage families to share parental leave
in a gender egalitarian way (Brighouse and Wright, 2008: 361). In their framework,
a parental leave policy that focuses only on mitigating the impacts of childbearing
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and rearing on women’s labour market participation without attempting to redis-
tribute care between women and men is inadequate for pursuing gender equality
objectives, and can even impede them.

Overall, the existing literature on the role of parental leave in promoting gender
equality is focused on public policy provisions (Farrelly and Whitehouse, 2013:
246), with a smaller literature on union-negotiated provisions (Baird et al., 2009;
Williamson and Baird, 2014), and little on business. However, while treated sep-
arately in the literature, these different domains of parental leave overlap and
intersect to create the broader normative and structural context in which parental
leave policies are designed, offered and taken up by mothers and fathers in
Australia. For example, the existence and nature of a national parental leave
scheme has the potential to influence union bargaining priorities and outcomes
(Baird and Murray, 2014; Baird et al., 2009; Berg et al., 2013). The existence of a
national scheme can also shape the way employers support the needs of working
parents by contributing to the ‘normative climate’ within organisations (Haas,
2008: 91; Whitehouse et al., 2013): some employers may extend their existing
schemes in response to the amplification of the importance of supporting working
parents; others may withdraw their schemes if the normative climate is one in
which parental leave is recast as a government responsibility, or in which employ-
ers with paid parental leave lose their competitive advantage (Whitehouse et al.,
2013). Consequently, to understand the effects of parental leave policies on gender
equality in Australia, the three domains and the relationship between them must be
considered together.

Until 2010, Australia was still one of only two countries in the Organisation for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) (alongside the United States)
without a national paid parental leave scheme. In the absence of a national scheme,
employer schemes arising from collectively-negotiated entitlements or company
policies were the avenues for accessing paid parental leave (Baird et al., 2009:
672). These employer schemes were also limited in the extent to which they pro-
moted gender-egalitarian sharing of leave: paid maternity leave schemes were
much more prevalent and more generous than either parental or paternity leave
schemes (Baird et al., 2009: 672; Whitehouse et al., 2013: 312). Prior to 2010,
therefore, Australia was performing poorly on gender equality in both its public
policy and employer approaches to parental leave, prompting Ray et al. (2010:
207) to rank Australia second from the bottom on the Gender Equality Index they
developed to compare gender equality in parental leave policy designs in 21
countries.

In 2010, Australia introduced its first national paid scheme and now has a
hybrid system of paid parental leave combining the government scheme, bargained
outcomes at the workplace or enterprise level, and company policies. Looking
across these three domains of parental leave policy, this article will assess the
degree to which the orientation to parental leave policy might have shifted, as
per Baird’s typology, since 2010, and if there is evidence of more gender equality
enabling or promoting provisions and outcomes, as Brighouse and Wright
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propose. While these indicators are not definitive measures of gender equality,
taken together, we argue, they give a sense of whether there has been any improve-
ment in gender equality relating to the making and taking of parental leave in
Australia.

Parental leave and the Australian system

Parental leave in Australia sits at the intersection of the industrial relations and
welfare systems (Baird, 2005), making it both empirically and conceptually com-
plex to understand and assess. The rights to unpaid leave and job protection are
governed by the Fair Work Act 2009, and are included in 10 National
Employment Standards (NES), whereas the Parental Leave Pay (PLP) scheme is
governed by the Paid Parental Leave Act 2010, and sits in the welfare portfolio
alongside income support payments. In addition, paid parental leave (including
paid maternity or primary carer leave and paid paternity or secondary carer leave)
may be made available through workplace agreements or company policies.

Under the NES, employees are entitled to 12 months of unpaid parental leave
per parent that can be taken within 24 months after the birth or adoption of the
child, provided they have worked for their employer for at least 12 months before
the date of birth (or adoption) or the date the leave commences, and provided they
have responsibility for the care of the child. To be eligible, casual employees need
to have been working for their employer on a ‘regular and systematic basis’ for this
12-month period and there needs to be a reasonable expectation that their work
would continue were it not for the birth of a child. Employees may request an
additional 12months of unpaid leave but employers can refuse this request on
‘reasonable business grounds’ (Campbell and Charlesworth, 2020). There is a
return to work guarantee, whereby the employee upon ceasing unpaid parental
leave can return to work either to the position they occupied prior to their parental
leave period, or if that position no longer exists, a position which is close in status
and pay to their previous position (Fair Work website). Employers are not per-
mitted to offer less than these minimum leave entitlements, but employees may be
entitled to more leave through their awards, enterprise agreements or other work-
place policies.

Australia’s national paid parental leave scheme, enshrined in the Paid Parental
Leave Act passed in 2010, became operational from 1 January 2011. The scheme
sits outside of the NES and therefore operates alongside but independently from
the unpaid leave provisions. Under the scheme, employees are entitled to 18 weeks
of government-funded PLP, paid at the National Minimum Wage. The payment is
made to the ‘primary carer’ of an infant, provided they meet a work test, an
income test, a residency test and they are on leave. To pass the work test, the
primary carer needs to have worked for at least 10 of the 13 months before the
birth or adoption of the child and 330 hours in that 10-month period (equivalent to
just over 1 day a week), with no more than 8 weeks between ‘work days’. There are
some exceptions to this test in the case of pregnancy complications or premature
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birth. The payment is income-tested on the income of the primary carer. To meet
the income test, the primary carer needs to have an adjusted taxable income of less
than $150,000 per year (approximately double the average annual individual earn-
ings in Australia). To receive the payment, the primary carer must be living in
Australia and have Australian citizenship or meet certain residency requirements.
The employee must be on leave for the duration of the payment, with the exception
of up to 10 ‘keeping in touch’ days.

In addition to the parental leave provisions and pay, employers may provide
additional leave provisions either negotiated and codified in enterprise agreements
or determined unilaterally through company policy. Indeed, the Productivity
Commission’s recommendation, on which the national scheme was based, encour-
aged employers to supplement the 18 weeks with their own policies, with an objec-
tive of achieving 26 weeks paid leave for parents (Productivity Commission, 2009).
As a result, Australia has a hybrid system of a NES, a government-funded scheme,
plus employer-provided paid parental leave achieved either through bargaining or
company policy. The national government-funded parental leave scheme is acces-
sible to most working mothers, and employer-funded paid parental leave schemes
are accessible to about 50% of working parents.

The article seeks to explore what has changed in the Australian parental leave
landscape since the introduction of the government scheme in 2010, and where we
are now when it comes to parental leave policymaking. It asks whether changes to
the government scheme since 2010 signal a shift in orientation, and whether they
are likely to impede or promote gender equality. It also asks whether workplace
agreements and company policy over the same period show evidence of a change in
orientation towards promoting gender equality by providing more opportunities
for fathers to take parental leave.

Method

To answer these questions, this article draws on data for each domain: public
policy, collective bargaining and company policies. First, we analyse the changes
to the PLP scheme since its introduction in 2010, including the introduction of Dad
and Partner Pay (DaPP) in 2013 and more recent changes and their capacity to
produce more gender-egalitarian outcomes when it comes to participation in
employment and childcare by mothers and fathers or partners.

Second, in relation to bargaining, we examine the degree to which unions and
non-union employee bodies have negotiated paid parental leave arrangements
since 2010, through analysis of the Australian Workplace Agreements Database
(WAD) housed in the Attorney Generals Department. The WAD provides data on
all union and non-union agreements registered federally each quarter and codes for
‘paid primary carer leave’ and ‘paid secondary carer leave’ clauses. The coding
does not provide for the exact wording in clauses so we only know whether the
leave is available to primary or secondary carers. Given current conventions — that
paid primary carer leave is most commonly used by mothers and paid secondary
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carer leave is most commonly used by fathers or partners — we assume for the
purposes of this article that an increase in the incidence and duration of paid
primary carer leave suggests greater support for working mothers (i.e. with the
potential to improve mothers’ labour market outcomes) and an increase in the
incidence and duration of secondary carer leave suggests greater support and
investment in leave for fathers (which is more important in improving broader
gender equality in the distribution of work and care). Notably, an increase in paid
primary carer leave coupled by the active promotion in workplaces of shared use of
that leave by mothers and fathers would also suggest greater support and invest-
ment in leave for fathers; however, we do not have data about the characteristics of
the policies and the contexts in which they are offered. With the exception
of several large companies, there is little evidence of widespread promotion of
shared use of paid primary carer leave in workplaces and companies. Using this
data set for the period 2009-2019, we assess the extent of change in the incidence of
paid primary carer leave and paid secondary carer leave and changes in the dura-
tion of that leave, measured in weeks. A measure of employee take-up of the
clauses is not available in this data set.

As a third and supporting indicator of change, we examine incidence and dura-
tion of parental leave in company policies as reported to the Workplace Gender
Equality Agency (WGEA) for the period 2014-2019, and to WGEA'’s forerunner,
the Equal Opportunity for Women in the Workplace Agency (EOWA) for the
period 2009-2012, with a break in available data in 2011 and 2013. Reporting
organisations are companies of 100 or more employees in the private sector and
higher education sector who are required to report annually against a set of gender
indicators, including paid leave for parenting. Some of these policies may have
been negotiated with employees or unions (and could thus also appear in the
WAD), but in other cases, they will be separate policies introduced unilaterally
by the employer, often in line with the ‘business orientation’ identified by Baird
(2004). The data collected have changed from being categorised as paid maternity
leave and paid paternity leave prior to 2014, to paid parental leave (primary carer)
and paid parental leave (secondary carer).” WGEA also collects data on whether
the company schemes top-up the government scheme or are in addition to the
government scheme, signalling the generosity of the employer contributions. We
support the analyses by referring to Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) data and
administrative data from the federal Department of Social Services on the take-up
rates of Paid Parental Leave and DaPP by parents (mothers and fathers/partners).

The analysis across the three areas of public policy, bargaining outcomes and
company policies must by necessity of the evidence we draw on be a high level
assessment of availability rather than use, and does not provide a definitive
account of shifts in gender equality with respect to parental leave use in
Australia over the past decade. Further research should do more detailed analysis
of the wording of clauses and company policies and the industry patterns in pro-
vision. However, we argue that through the combined analysis of the three
domains of policymaking, we get a clear sense of whether or not there is a move
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to more or less gender equality in both the policy orientations and paid parental
leave entitlements.

Public policy: Government PLP and DaPP

Australia’s PLP scheme, enacted in 2010, was a significant policy gain for
Australian working women (Baird and Williamson, 2011), but it produced
mixed results for gender equality. In the first instance, the scheme provided a
period of paid leave at the National Minimum Wage to many parents, especially
working mothers in the private sector, who until that point did not have access to
any paid parental leave or who had access to a very short period of paid leave from
their employer. Evaluation of the scheme over the period 2010-2014 showed that it
contributed to a reduction in the proportion of mothers who returned to work
within the first 18 weeks after the birth of the child (Martin et al., 2014), a positive
development in child and maternal health and wellbeing. It also contributed to a
potential increase in the proportion of women who returned by 12 months, and a
small increase in the proportion of women returning to a position at the same
level and conditions, particularly among low-income women and women in casual
or insecure work (Martin et al., 2014). The scheme therefore had small but
significant positive effects on the health, wellbeing and labour market participation
of mothers.

While it offered small but important increases in mothers’ labour market attach-
ment and incomes early in the babies’ lives, the PLP scheme was limited in the
extent to which it promoted gender equality. First, international evidence suggests
that 26 weeks is the duration of paid parental leave that is advantageous for both
child health and mothers’ health and labour market participation (AHRC, 2013;
Baird and Constantin, 2015), but the duration of the scheme was only 18 weeks
(though a small proportion of working women would have been able to use their
employer schemes to top up their paid leave period to 26 weeks). Second, the low
rate of payment limited the extent to which it could mitigate the effects of child-
bearing and rearing on wages and retirement incomes, and this was exacerbated by
the failure to attach a contribution to superannuation (i.e. retirement savings) to
the scheme. Third, making the payment conditional on labour market withdrawal
for a single 18-week period (with the exception of 10 keeping in touch days) limited
parents’ opportunities to stay engaged in the labour market (i.e. part time or in
short blocks) during the early months of their babies’ lives.

While the scheme was limited in the extent to which it could mitigate the
impacts of childbearing and rearing on mothers’ labour market attachment and
incomes, it was even more limited in the extent to which it facilitated the more
equal distribution of work and care between women and men. In spite of being
‘parental leave’ in name, a number of design features of the scheme meant that it
was unlikely to be utilised by men. While it is available to the ‘primary carer’,
which is ostensibly gender neutral, the entitlement is in fact conferred to the ‘birth
mother” who must then transfer that entitlement to the father or partner if they are
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to be the primary carer (Baird and O’Brien, 2015). The scheme is paid at the
minimum wage, and research suggests that men are much less likely to take up
payments if the rate is low and not set at a reasonably high level of wage replace-
ment (Haas and Rostgaard, 2011). In Australia, the minimum wage is roughly
40% of average full-time male earnings (ABS, 2020), so PLP offers a low wage
replacement rate.’

Some design features of the original scheme even prohibited the equal sharing of
the PLP period. For example, the scheme was relatively short in duration (com-
pared to many overseas schemes) and had to be taken by the primary carer in one
continuous block, which meant that it was not possible for women to take a period
of the leave after the birth and then transfer the balance to a partner. Currently,
take-up rates of PLP among men are extremely low, at 0.5% (Wood et al., 2020:
42). In this context, according to the framework developed by Brighouse and
Wright, the original scheme had features that can be conceived as ‘equality imped-
ing’: while it was technically available to either parent, the design features meant
that it was almost solely taken by women.

The addition of DaPP in 2013 was a significant amendment to the scheme.
Introduced with the goal of increasing opportunities for fathers to actively partic-
ipate in the early weeks of a child’s life, this offered fathers and same-sex partners
two weeks of paid leave, also at the National Minimum Wage, provided they met
the same work, residence and income requirements as those governing access to
PLP. DaPP made the government scheme slightly more gender equitable by giving
fathers or partners an exclusive right to two weeks PLP. However, DaPP has not
had high take-up and has failed to create a significant shift in the sharing of
parental leave periods between couples. At present, administrative data provided
in the annual report of the Department of Social Services report 91,762 fathers or
partners received DaPP in the financial year 2018-2019, which is estimated to be
approximately 25% of eligible fathers and partners (Australian Government,
Department of Social Services, 2019: 68). This is much higher than men’s take-
up rate of PLP; however, it remains much lower than women’s take-up of PLP,
and most fathers and partners are not using the payment in spite of its being
designed for them and available on a use-it-or-lose-it basis. There are a number
of reasons behind fathers’ low take-up of DaPP. The rate of pay is at the minimum
wage, which as mentioned above is a disincentive to take-up by men (Martin et al.,
2014). The scheme is to be taken in a single block, which limits the flexibility with
which fathers can use the leave. The scheme has not been well publicised or encour-
aged, and many view the administrative burden of applying as too high given the
reasonably small payment (Martin et al., 2014). There also continues to be stigma
attached to Australian working fathers taking paternity leave or flexible work
options, making it difficult for many fathers to request a 2-week period of leave
after the birth of their child. Consequently, while the DaPP provision was ‘equality
enabling’ in character, it has had limited effect in promoting gender equality.

The most recent changes in the PLP scheme came in 2020 in two tranches, with
the first changes coming into effect from 1 January 2020. The ‘work test’ was
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changed so that more women employed casually, seasonally or with breaks in
employment (such as teachers, academics, jockeys and journalists) are eligible
for PLP, and to allow women in ‘dangerous jobs’ to cease work and commence
PLP prior to the due date. A second set of changes came into effect from 1 July
2020 aimed at increasing flexibility in the use of PLP and the sharing of time
between parents. These changes remove the requirement that the whole 18-week
period be taken by the primary carer in one single block, allowing more flexibility
in the timing of the leave period and making it easier to transfer a part of the
entitlement between partners. The amendment stipulates that an initial 12-week
block of the PLP entitlement must be used in a single block within the first
12months after the birth or adoption of a child. However, the remaining 6
weeks (30days) can now be used at any time within the first 2 years, and the
claimants can make more than one transfer of Paid Parental Leave to an eligible
partner. In essence, these changes allow parents to split the current 18-week single
period of parental leave into one block of 12 weeks, with the rest, 30 workdays or
6 weeks, to be used flexibly over 2 years, rather than 1 year. The 30 days can be
taken in periods of 1 day or more. This allows mothers to take a portion of the
leave period flexibly, providing the option of re-engaging in the labour market
earlier in some capacity. Furthermore, these 30 workdays can be more easily
shared with the other parent. This change has slight echoes of the Nordic model
where the scheme can be used in smaller parts (i.e. single days), over a longer
period of time and with some encouragement of fathers to use the leave. Indeed,
an explicit aim of the proposed policy is to provide more options for fathers and
partners to participate in childcare.*

The flexibility amendment has the potential to improve gender equality in the
taking of PLP, because it allows a portion of the PLP period to be allocated to a
secondary claimant (and even a tertiary claimant in some instances), which given
current parenting patterns in Australia, is most likely to be the father or partner. In
this respect, the new flexibility can be considered a step towards ‘equality
enabling’, in that it provides leave for families as well as mothers, without being
accompanied by provisions that encourage the gender-equitable sharing of the
leave period. However, though research suggests that men are more likely to use
PLP if it can be taken flexibly, significant barriers remain to the gender-equitable
sharing of leave. The same limits of low wage replacement rates, short duration
and lack of communication about the scheme’s changes are likely to impede use by
fathers and partners. In addition, the total PLP allowance being shared between
partners is very short and is a proportion of a PLP period that is already short in
duration by international standards. There is also a potential risk that the amend-
ment signals a reduction in the ‘normative’ duration of paid leave time for mothers
after the birth of a child from 18 weeks to 12 weeks, undoing some of the progress
achieved in the introduction of PLP that extended the duration of paid leave
available to most mothers. Monitoring of the new flexibility will be necessary to
test the impact on gender equality.
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Hence, the initial design of the PLP scheme, despite being called parental leave,
favoured uptake by mothers, and the evidence is that it has played out that way,
with 95.5% of uptake by mothers (Wood et al., 2020: 42). The introduction of
DaPP was a step towards enabling fathers to share in care, at least for a short time,
but design features meant that the uptake has been low. Finally, the recent flex-
ibility introduced to the scheme, while aimed at promoting gender equality, is
unlikely to increase use by fathers or partners to any great extent as they do not
make a substantive change to the scheme’s design.

Workplace agreements

Using the WAD, this section examines trends in the outcomes of workplace
bargaining in paid parental leave in Australia, including changes between 2009
and 2019 in the incidence and duration of union and non-union agreements for
paid primary carer leave and paid secondary carer leave. Unlike in many other
countries, agreements can be made by a non-union entity (Bray et al., 2020) and
while union bargaining is the majority pattern, we also present data for non-
union agreements. It should be noted that overall there has been a decrease in
collective agreement-making over the past 10 years, attributed to a suite of issues
including a decline in unionisation rates, employers’ growing resistance to bar-
gaining and a regulatory environment that does not promote collective bargain-
ing (Pennington, 2020).

Bargaining activity and the provision of paid primary carer leave is illustrated in
Figure 1. Overall, paid primary carer leave is more common than paid secondary
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Figure |. Proportion of agreements with paid primary carer leave 2009-2019.
Source: Reproduced with permission from Attorney-General’s Department (2020).
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carer leave but present in less than one-third of all agreements, and this pattern has
remained the same over the decade 2009-2019. While there is some unevenness
over the period which reflects the timing of agreement making and the length of
agreements (usually 2 or 3 years), there is modest growth in the proportion of
union agreements with a paid primary carer leave provision, from 21% in 2009 to
28% in 2019. For non-union agreements, the shift has been negligible.

While just over one-quarter (28%) of agreements included a paid primary carer
leave clause, this figure tends to underestimate the proportion of employees who
have access to the provision. An average of 50.25% of all employees under an
enterprise agreement registered in 2019 (Attorney-General’s Department, 2020)
had access to a paid primary carer leave clause. This difference occurs because
larger organisations and the public sector are more likely to have enterprise agree-
ments than small businesses and the private sector, thus their agreements cover
more employees. The proportion of employees covered varies each year depending
on which agreements are being registered, but the average proportion of enterprise
agreement-covered employees with access to a paid primary carers leave clause was
52% over the decade.

Bargaining activity and the provision of paid secondary carer leave is illustrated
in Figure 2. It shows there has also been modest growth in the proportion of union
agreements with a paid secondary carer leave provision, from 15 to 22% of union
agreements between 2009 and 2019. For non-union agreements, the shift has again
been negligible. The similarity in the pattern of union and non-union bargaining
for paid primary and secondary carer leaves suggests that the distinction between
primary and secondary carer has become embedded in agreements, and it would
require a new clause to combine into one form of parental leave, open to both
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primary and secondary carers. Such a bargaining approach, if it were adopted,
may signal a more equitable orientation.

In 2002, the International Labour Organisation (ILO) minimum paid parental
leave recommendation shifted from 12 weeks to 14 weeks (ILO, 2010), and since
that time the number of countries to have ratified this convention has been steadily
increasing. In Australian workplace agreements, the average duration of the pri-
mary carer leave period remained the same in 2019 as it was in 2009, that is
12 weeks, although there was a small increase to 14weeks in 2014 and 2018.
While in 2009, non-union agreements had fewer weeks on average of paid primary
carer leave (10 weeks, compared with the 12-week average in union agreements),
this has gradually increased so that in 2019 the average period of union and non-
union primary carer leave periods was the same, at 12 weeks.

The duration of secondary carer leaves also remained stable at 2 weeks through-
out the period, although some agreements registered in 2017 included 4 weeks. A
lower proportion of non-union agreements include paid secondary carers leave but
the duration is the same, at 2 weeks.

In sum, in the domain of collective bargaining, we can observe a small increase
(7%) in the prevalence of both primary and secondary carer leave in agreements.
The growing prevalence of primary carer leave suggests an increase in the incidence
of ‘equality bargaining’ on the subject of parental leave, or bargaining relating to
improving women’s working conditions (Baird et al., 2009; Williamson and Baird,
2014). However, without other details of the clauses (such as whether or not they
are available across genders), and without data on take-up rates of primary carer
leave by gender, we know little about the impacts of the increase in prevalence of
primary carer leave on the involvement of men in caring. A better indicator
of bargaining for paid parental leave (PPL) arrangements that enable or encourage
the participation of men as carers is the increase in prevalence of secondary carer
leave, as this is typically targeted at fathers and male partners. We can assume that
the leave periods would be paid at wage replacement levels and therefore are likely
to be more attractive to fathers than the government scheme. However, we do not
have data on take-up of secondary carer leave.

While there has been a modest increase in the prevalence of primary and sec-
ondary leave, there has been little movement in the duration of primary or second-
ary leave, with the exception of some agreements in 2017 where the rate was 4
weeks. Consequently, a large gap remains between the average duration of primary
and secondary leave, with secondary leave remaining much shorter. This difference
in duration between primary and secondary carer entitlements sends a clear signal
that the primary carer will do most of the care, and the secondary carer only a
short period. Among the roughly half of employees with access to collectively-
bargained primary carer leave, those with access to the average duration of
12 weeks will, when added to the government scheme, have access to 30 weeks of
leave (half at wage replacement or a portion thereof, and half at the minimum
wage, unless they use options within both schemes to use the leave more flexibly).
In contrast, the much lower level of secondary carer leave in both the government
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and collectively-bargained agreements would see secondary carers who combine
the government and collectively bargained schemes still only having access to a
total of 4 weeks paid leave (half at wage replacement and half at the minimum
wage). The norms of the government scheme are therefore in many ways reflected
in the collectively-bargained provisions, in terms of both the duration and in the
sense that they may be ‘parental’ in name but for the most part assume that most
care will be done by one ‘primary’ carer, likely to be the mother.

Employer policies

To understand changes in employer schemes, this section will draw on WGEA
data for 2012 and from 2014 to 2019 (data from 2011 and 2013 are not available).
In 2012, WGEA reported on provision of paid maternity and paid paternity leave,
before changing the numbers to paid primary carer leave and paid secondary carer
leave in 2014-2019.

According to EOWA data (the predecessor of WGEA), the provision of paid
maternity leave has been on an upward trajectory since the turn of the century,
increasing from 35.6% of reporting employers in 2002-2003 to 54.9% in 2009—
2010, the year prior to the introduction of the government PLP scheme. By 2012, a
year after the implementation of the government PLP scheme, the proportion of
reporting employers providing paid maternity leave had dropped to 51.7%.

Between 2014 and 2019, the proportion of employers providing paid parental
leave for the primary carer remained fairly stable, at just under 50%. It rose from
48.5 to 49.4% over the period with a small dip to 45.9 in 2017. These data refer to
parental leave that is available to either male or female primary carers. Since 2017,
WGEA has also collected data on the proportion of employers offering paid paren-
tal leave to women only. The proportion is low, sitting at around 4.8% since 2017.

A small proportion of employers provide their paid parental leave for primary
carers in the form of a ‘top up’ to the government scheme, making up the difference
between the minimum wage and employees’ full rate of pay. The proportion of
employers taking this approach increased from 8 to 10% over the period 2014—
2019. This approach means that the duration of the employer-provided scheme
cannot exceed the 18-week duration of the government scheme but can be fewer
weeks than the government scheme. While about 1 in 10 employers that provide paid
parental leave do so by topping up the government scheme, a much greater propor-
tion do so at full pay in addition to the government scheme. More than 80% of
employers that provide paid parental leave for primary carers provide it in this way,
and the proportion increased from 80.6 to 82.3% between 2014 and 2019. These two
approaches — topping up the government scheme and paying full pay in addition to
the government scheme — facilitate different combinations of the government and
employer schemes and shed light on the ways in which Australia’s hybrid approach
to parental leave operates. When combining the two schemes, employees in the first
category are likely to have a shorter duration of the leave period (maximum
18 weeks) at full pay, whereas those in the second category are likely to have
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access to a considerably longer leave period (18 weeks PLP plus however many
weeks of employer-funded leave) unless they choose to take them concurrently.

The average period of paid maternity leave in 2012 was 9.7 weeks, increasing to
10.6 weeks (paid parental leave) in 2014 and 10.7 weeks in 2019 (though there was
a dip in the average duration of paid parental leave for primary carers between
2014 and 2019).

While the proportion of employers providing paid parental leave for primary
carers increased very slightly in the period 20142019, there was more change in
the area of leave for secondary carers. In 2012, the proportion of employers pro-
viding paid paternity leave was 38.1%, at an average duration of 1.6 weeks. In the
period 2014-2016, the proportion of employers providing paid parental leave for
secondary carers increased by 5%, from 38.8 to 43.8% over the same period. The
average duration of paid parental leave for the secondary carer offered by employers
in 2019 was 1.7 weeks, which had increased from 1.5 weeks in 2014.

The duration of both the primary and secondary carer provisions offered by
employers are roughly 10% shorter than both the government and collectively-
bargained schemes, which are more closely aligned in duration. While most pri-
mary and secondary carer paid parental leave schemes are accessible to both
women and men, recent ABS data on take-up in the private sector show that
95% of primary carer paid parental leave was taken by mothers, and 95% of
secondary carer paid parental leave was taken by fathers (ABS, 2017), suggesting
that accessibility to both parents makes little impact on take-up rates across gen-
ders unless coupled with other measures.

Hence, as with the government and bargained schemes, company policies are
increasing in prevalence but not duration. This means that while access to both
primary and secondary carer leave is more common, and wage replacement levels
offer greater encouragement for men to take them, the periods remain short and
heavily differentiated, such that secondary carer leave is framed as a short break.
Hence, they may improve equality insofar as more people have access to the
provisions, mitigating the impacts of childbearing and rearing on labour market
outcomes and earnings over the lifecourse. However, when it comes to improving
gender equality in the distribution of both work and care, the trend is more equal-
ity enabling (i.e. providing leave for families rather than mothers but without being
accompanied by measures to encourage parents to share the entitlement), rather
than equality promoting.

Where are we now with parental leave in Australia?

The introduction of Australia’s first government-funded PLP scheme in 2010 was
very important in expanding access to paid parental leave beyond the minority
receiving employer schemes. It provided greater financial security (and more finan-
cial autonomy) after the birth of a child for many women who would previously
have taken unpaid leave during that time and resulted in small improvements in
women’s labour market outcomes. More importantly, it contributed to a
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normative climate in which paid parental leave was valued and supported by
government, and set the foundation for greater government involvement in sup-
porting women and men to take paid leave in the early period of their child’s life.
At the time of the introduction of the government PLP scheme, it was constructed
as a ‘first step’ to be improved upon by government and supplemented by employ-
ers to provide the best outcomes for women, men and children. The small improve-
ments to women’s labour market attachment and financial security and to
maternal and child health have been valuable, but the original scheme did little
to encourage the more equal sharing of care by women and men. The scheme
needed reform if it was to improve both women’s labour market outcomes and
men’s involvement in care, promoting gender equality.

We argue that while the introduction of the government scheme has seen the
state play a much stronger role in Australia’s paid parental leave infrastructure,
collective bargaining and company policy continue to play a significant and slowly
growing role as domains of parental leave policymaking in Australia’s hybrid
system. Ten years on from the introduction of the government scheme, the ‘ori-
entations’ (Baird, 2004) of the three domains remain broadly the same: unions and
companies continue to take bargaining and business approaches respectively,
which remain focused on providing more primary carers (most often working
women) with a wage-replacement-level leave entitlement. The government
scheme continues to take a welfare approach (coupled to some degree with neo-
liberal labour market arguments), with a minimume-level payment focused on child
and maternal health and, to some extent, female labour supply. However, all three
approaches now pay more attention to fathers and shared care in the early weeks
after the birth.

When it comes to gender equality in the distribution of work and care, the orig-
inal government scheme had features that could be conceived as ‘equality impeding’.
It was ‘parental leave’ in name and was technically available to either parent but was
targeted at the birth mother and the design features meant that it was almost exclu-
sively taken by women. The new flexibility can be considered a step towards ‘equal-
ity enabling’, in that it provides leave for families rather than mothers, without being
accompanied by provisions that encourage the gender-equitable sharing of the leave
period. The introduction of DaPP is a positive step towards creating opportunities
for men to be more involved in the care of their children in the early weeks, and
towards creating a normative climate that promotes the involvement of fathers in
care. However, this cannot be considered ‘equality promoting’ in Brighouse and
Wright’s sense because it does not encourage families to share parental leave in a
gender-egalitarian way. While it is earmarked for secondary carers (most likely to be
men), other design features mean that take-up is low, and even if take-up was high,
the large difference in the duration of PLP and DaPP does not encourage a gender-
egalitarian sharing of care.

Patterns and features in the government scheme are mirrored in workplaces.
The WAD and WGEA data reveal evidence of a small increase in the availability
of both paid primary and paid secondary carer leave. This suggests a possible small
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growth in attention to improving women’s working conditions and to acknowl-
edging the need for fathers to take leave at the birth of the child. We can assume
that these provisions are offered at wage replacement rates and, if available to both
parents, they are likely to continue leading to higher take-up of both primary and
secondary carer leave by men compared with the government scheme. However,
take-up of primary schemes by men remains low, and we do not have enough
information about the clauses or workplace cultures to explain this, although
previous research shows both to be important contributors to men’s uptake
(Baird et al., 2009; Haas and Hwang, 2019). Secondary carer leave also remains
less prevalent than primary carer leave. In addition, there has been little change in
the duration of the two leave types and a large gap remains between the duration of
primary carer leave and the duration of secondary carer leave. Consequently, this
still cannot be considered ‘equality promoting’ in Brighouse and Wright’s sense
because it does not encourage families to share parental leave in a gender-
egalitarian way. Clauses, policies or workplace contexts that encourage or incenti-
vise shared use of paid primary carer leave by mothers and fathers would lead to
more equitable outcomes, and while this is already occurring in several companies,
the extent of this is unknown and will be the subject of further research.

Overall, therefore, changes in the last 10 years have seen a small increase in
availability of parental leaves for primary carers that mitigate the impacts of child-
bearing and rearing on women’s labour market participation. While this has been
accompanied by a modest increase in the availability of secondary carer leaves
(which are often targeted at men and, in the case of the government scheme,
explicitly for fathers and partners), this does not constitute an attempt to redis-
tribute care between women and men. Rather, short secondary carer leaves set
normative standards of fathers as ‘supporters’ at the time of birth, rather than
being substantively involved in the care of their children in the early years. While
having time together at the birth of a child is important for couples and babies, the
egalitarian sharing of primary care over a longer period is what will lead to the
most gender-equitable outcomes.

On the evidence available from both the WAD’s estimates of employee coverage
and WGEA’s estimates, it appears that just over 50% of employees will be able to
combine the government scheme with a workplace or employer scheme, which
(except in the cases of employer ‘top-up’ schemes) will see longer periods of paid
primary carer leave, and in some cases paid secondary carer leave. However, the
shared pattern across sectors of longer primary carer leave taken predominantly by
women and shorter secondary carer leave taken predominantly by men means that
the combination of schemes may improve women’s labour market outcomes but
will still do little to increase men’s ongoing involvement in the primary care of their
children. Consequently, over the last 10 years, Australia’s parental leave infrastruc-
ture has seen a slight shift from fewer ‘equality impeding’ features and more
‘equality enabling’ features, but very limited development in ‘equality promoting’
features that encourage the egalitarian sharing of parental leave between women
and men.
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Where to next?

Improving the extent to which Australian parental leave policies promote gender
equality must involve further reform. In the government scheme, increasing the
duration, flexibility and rate of PLP would boost its potential to increase gender
equality. Making a portion of an already short and low-rate scheme more easily
accessible by fathers (as in the 2020 changes) will not contribute substantially to
overcoming gender inequalities. More extensive change is needed. Providing
options for fathers to take PLP would be more effective if done in a ‘gender
collaborative context’ (O’Brien and Shemilt, 2003), that is, by lengthening the
period of ‘primary carer’ parental leave available to couples and then building in
features that enable and encourage couples to share the leave more equally.
Extending the duration to 26 weeks would provide most working women with
access to the period of leave considered to be best for maternal and child health
and beneficial for labour market attachment (Ray et al., 2010). It would also
increase the likelihood of take-up by men because the shareable leave period is
longer. Making the whole 26 weeks available to either parent provided they are the
primary carer, without having to be transferred from the mother to father/partner,
would also shift the normative assumption embedded in the scheme that parental
leave is for mothers. Enabling both parents to use and share the whole period
flexibly would also facilitate greater opportunities for both parents to combine
part-time paid work with primary care of their child. Increasing the rate of pay-
ment, and adding superannuation, would improve the extent to which the scheme
mitigates the current negative impact of leave on income and savings, and would
also increase the likelihood of take-up by men, as men are more likely to use
parental leaves if the rate is closer to wage replacement levels (Haas and
Rostgaard, 2011).

While these features would enable a more gender-equal sharing of leave, it
would not encourage it. We also suggest that measures be introduced into the
government scheme that encourage the more gender-equal sharing of primary
carer leave, following international precedent in nations that include father/partner
quotas and other incentives (i.e. Iceland, Norway, Sweden, Denmark, Finland and
Germany) (Haas and Rostgaard, 2011). For example, in the Australian scheme,
governments could consider introducing a bonus period of leave on top of the 26-
week period (a ‘shared care bonus’) offered to couples who have shared the orig-
inal period of leave equally or, where the whole or most of the 26-week period was
used by one parent, must be used exclusively by the other parent in order for the
couple to receive the bonus. The duration of this bonus period must be adequate,
such as at least eight weeks, in order to shift behaviour.

In bargaining and workplaces, efforts should be focused less on secondary carer
leaves and more on increasing the duration and flexibility of paid primary carer
leaves, and on creating incentives for primary carer leaves to be taken by fathers
and partners, so that ‘primary carer’ is not automatically associated with the mother.
Policies encouraging use by fathers must also be accompanied by changes to the
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normative climate in workplaces and communities that promote and enable the use
of paid primary carer leave by men (Haas and Rostgaard, 2011; Reimer, 2020).

In conclusion, while the introduction of the Paid Parental Leave Act in 2010 was a
‘giant leap’ forward in Australia’s policy framework at the time, changes in the gov-
ernment scheme and outcomes in workplace agreements and company policies over
the last decade have taken just ‘baby steps’ to improving gender equality in the pro-
vision of paid parental leave. As we argue, there is therefore much that could be done
in the policy arena, in workplace bargaining and in company policy arrangements that
could improve the position for working parents and gender equality overall.
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Notes

1. These three domains constitute the parental leave policymaking environment for
Australian employees. The leave entitlements of employees in the public service in
each state (except Victoria) are set by the state legislatures, as well as awards and agree-
ments. There may also be occasional individual bargains made between an employee and
an employer but no data source captures these.

2. The paid parental leave questions were restructured in 2017 to separate paid parental
leave that is offered to both women and men from leave that is offered to women only or
men only. https://data.wgea.gov.au/industries/l#carers_content

3. The National Minimum Wage is currently AUD $753.80 per 38-hour week. In May 2020,
average weekly total full-time earnings of men in Australia was AUD $1889.70 (ABS, 2020).
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4. According to MP Alan Tudge (Minister for Population, Cities and Urban Infrastructure)
in his second reading speech of the bill, ‘Increasing the flexibility of paid parental leave may
encourage greater uptake of parental leave pay by secondary carers, contributing to chang-
ing social norms around sharing care and encouraging men to take parental leave’. https://
parlinfo.aph.gov.au/parllnfo/search/display/display.w3p;db=CHAMBER;id = chamber
%?2Fhansardr%2F4a263c90-4a15-4591-b1e6-7cd74£566¢21%2F0034;query =1d%3A%
22chamber%2Fhansardr%2F4a263c90-4a15-4591-b1e6-7cd74566¢21%2F0035%22
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In this article, we examine the efficacy and sustainability of Australian strategies
designed to deliver equal remuneration for work of equal value, as prescribed in
the Equal Remuneration Convention of the International Labour Organisation
(ILO), 1950 (hereafter ILO 100). This principle has to varying degrees informed
the gender pay equality measures adopted in Australian wage-setting systems and
our primary goal is to assess the extent to which its potential to fundamentally
challenge gender bias in wage determination has been enabled by the strategies
adopted. Applying the lens of a typology of contrasting approaches to equal remu-
neration for work of equal value and drawing on policy documents, legislative
provisions and records of tribunal proceedings, we illustrate advances and retreats
in the identification and redress of gender pay inequality across four epochs,
each of which began with new legislative or tribunal interventions that shaped
the possibilities for action.

Our analysis of these epochs is set against the nature of the state apparatus in
Australia in dealing with industrial matters, including wages and equal remuner-
ation claims. As part of Australia’s class settlement, capital’s capacity to price
labour within the market economy was mediated by the creation of industrial
tribunals, before which the claims of capital and collective labour were resolved
(Smith, 2011a). Compulsory arbitration gave these industrial tribunals the power
to settle disputes between capital and labour and make binding determinations
(Barry and Wailes, 2004). Both federal (national) and state (provincial) tiers of
government hold the capacity to legislate on industrial relations (and create indus-
trial tribunals), although such rights for state governments were significantly weak-
ened in 2006 and again in 2009 (Creighton and Stewart, 2010). A further feature of
Australian industrial relations has been a centralised system of awards: industrial
instruments that set minimum terms and conditions of employment, primarily at
an industry level. While awards are a legacy of Australia’s compulsory arbitration
and centralised wage determination, they have waned under an increasingly neo-
liberal state in favour of enterprise and at times individual wage-setting (Gahan
and Pekarek, 2012). Even so, key features of the centralised wage-setting remain in
place, and claims for equal pay have historically been made on a collective rather
than an individual basis and through the system of wage fixation, involving the
assessment of work value in industry-wide awards.

These wage-setting arrangements have both reflected and contributed to the
reproduction of the Australian gender order.! Wage determinations in the early
twentieth century institutionalised a ‘needs-based’ family wage that solidified male
breadwinner/female carer divisions in line with prevailing gender norms. The
deeply gendered assumptions about divisions of paid and unpaid labour manifest
in the family wage were reflected in understandings of the value of work under-
taken by women, producing interrelated constraints on women’s wages.

Within this context, deep-seated gender norms can be expected to impede the
effective implementation of the principle of equal remuneration for work of equal
value. However, there have also been countervailing pressures on women’s wages.
The family wage and assumptions about the value of women’s work operated in
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parallel with a system that provided a level of protection to the low paid through
the regulated award system, and required attention to ‘work value’ as a concept
independent of market value to an employer. While lacking precise definition,
work value in the Australian wage-setting system has been focused specifically
on characteristics of the work and the context in which it is undertaken and
thus provides a basis for the prosecution of equal value claims.

These contextual factors are reflected in the typology of strategies designed to
deliver equal remuneration for work of equal value that we develop in the follow-
ing section. The analysis then proceeds in four sections, addressing each of the
epochs in turn. In conclusion, we draw together lessons from the gains and losses
identified in the Australian case and reflect on the broader implications for advanc-
ing gender equality through the principle of equal remuneration for work of
equal value.

Framing the analysis: Theorising and classifying approaches
to equal remuneration for work of equal value

Feminist debates over the potential of equal remuneration for work of equal
value” to redress gender wage inequality have consistently underlined the tension
between those who view it as a ‘counter-hegemonic challenge to systemic dis-
crimination’ (Fudge, 2000: 317) and those who argue that it reinforces male
norms and ‘strengthens...occupational and wage hierarchies’ (Fudge, 2000).
The principle’s ‘radical edge’ (Kainer, 1995: 460) lies in its capacity to expose
the embedded norms that recreate structural inequalities in wage determination,
with its extension beyond the basic principle of ‘equal pay for equal work’ con-
sistent with a move from ‘formal’ to ‘substantive’ equality (Fredman, 2016;
Fudge, 2000). However, early critics argued that the process would reinforce
meritocratic wage hierarchies and the market principles that inform them (see
e.g. Brenner, 1987).°

For the purposes of analysis, we identify two intersecting sets of contingencies
that shape the capacity to capture the radical potential of equal value measures.
The first draws on feminist conceptualisations of gender equality that contrast
liberal feminist notions of equality as ‘sameness’ with men (sought through
equal opportunity measures) with radical feminist arguments for the recognition
of women’s ‘difference’ from men (with redress sought through positive action)
(see e.g. Squires, 1999). Limits to both these notions of equality echo
Wollstonecraft’s (1792/2005) dilemma — that women are penalised whether they
seek equality with men through ostensibly gender-neutral strategies that require
them to conform to a male norm, or through recognition of gender difference in
special provisions that risk reproducing sexism and the undervaluation of feminine
attributes. Visions of a transition beyond this dilemma include a deconstructive
approach that challenges and seeks to displace the sameness and difference binary
(see e.g. Squires, 1999; Williams, 1991). Squires (1999, 2005) represents this as the
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third component of a trilogy of perspectives on gender equality in political theory:
‘inclusion’ (based on gender neutrality and ‘sameness’ with men), ‘reversal’ (based
on recognition of female difference) and ‘displacement’ (seeking to ‘deconstruct
those discursive regimes that engender the subject’ (Squires, 2005: 368)).*

The history of equal remuneration strategies resonates with the first two com-
ponents of this trilogy, with transition from a focus on equality as sameness in
early ‘equal pay for equal work” provisions to an explicit recognition of difference
in ‘equal pay for work of equal value’ measures, as advocated in ILO 100. This
suggestion of a trajectory from sameness to difference (and possibly beyond) can
also be identified within equal remuneration for work of equal value strategies:
measures designed to give effect to this principle range from requiring sameness
with a male comparator to revaluing feminised work, and potentially to interro-
gating wage-setting and employment norms in ways that disrupt the structures
underpinning the reproduction of gender inequality.

An carlier application of this typology to cross-national comparison of equal
remuneration for work of equal value strategies (Smith et al., 2017) demonstrated
its utility for analysing equal remuneration strategies, albeit illustrating a number
of complexities including variation within categories and somewhat permeable
divisions between them. Taking these lessons on board, we adopt the ‘inclusion-
reversal-displacement’ distinction as the primary dimension of our framework for
analysing the Australian system over time.

Table 1 (top panel) describes these approaches, separating equal pay for equal
work from equal remuneration for work of equal value, with the latter divided
into the three contrasting approaches, each of which may in turn encompass
weaker and stronger versions and impinge on category boundaries (as argued
in Smith et al., 2017). In this categorisation, ‘inclusion’ refers to strategies that
seek a gender-neutral sameness, through either resisting comparisons across dif-
ferent forms of work or conducting them only through use of a male compar-
ator. In its weakest manifestation, it may be close to the simpler principle of
‘equal pay for equal work’. The main risk of an inclusion approach is the uncrit-
ical acceptance of male rates as the standard for work value comparisons.
‘Reversal’ applies to strategies that acknowledge women’s difference, through
according value to previously unrecognised or undervalued skills and conditions
in female-dominated occupations, with weaker versions reliant on comparisons
with male-dominated groups. It also involves risks — primarily, the reaffirmation
of gender stereotypes and the attribution of lower value to newly recognised
attributes. As Rubery and Hebson (2018) note, making gender visible is impor-
tant but risks legitimising inequalities and essentialising difference (see also
Fudge, 2000). ‘Displacement’ is used to describe strategies that are not limited
by binary gender-based comparisons but that broaden the lens to include a wider
range of factors that influence how work is (mis)valued. Our use of the term
encompasses Squires’ (1999) conceptualisation of moving beyond strategies that
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engender the subject, but rather than Squires’ (1999) focus on intersectionality
and overlapping social identities as displacement mechanisms, our conceptualisa-
tion also emphasises the need to displace the structural underpinnings of wage
inequalities that are reproduced through wage-setting systems.

This construction of ‘displacement’ (implicit also in Smith et al., 2017) is inti-
mately linked with the potential of wage-setting practices to challenge established
wage hierarchies and exert influence on overall wage equality. It echoes Rubery
and Koukiadaki’s (2016) emphasis on the importance for gender pay equality of
inclusive and transparent labour markets, relevant features of which include not
only measures that restrict wage dispersion,” such as high minimum wages and
constraints on high earnings, but also inclusive standards that cover all workers (p.
7). These are the conditions typically eroded under policy frameworks within
which the scope of collective bargaining is narrowed and labour markets are
increasingly segmented. Such trends are among the institutionally based ‘moving
goalposts’ that continually recreate gender pay inequalities (Rubery and
Grimshaw, 2015: 323).6

Our second set of contingencies affecting application of the principle of
equal remuneration for equal value is thus comprised of a spectrum of wage-
setting principles and practices (see Table 1, lower panel). These include the
viability of minimum wages, the scope for collective industry bargaining and
the disposition of wage-setting policy to industry-wide living wage determina-
tion relative to enterprise and individual bargaining. Relevant also is how the
value of work is established — a reliance on market value or assessment of the
requirements and demands of the work and the context in which it is under-
taken. In addition to measures that limit wage dispersion and are inclusive of
all types of employment is the need for an inclusive definition of remuneration
(as in ILO 100).

These provisions exert influence within each category of the gender equality
categories in Table 1’s top panel, in particular supporting the potential of a dis-
placement approach to recognise historic and current inequality and deliver appro-
priate remedies. For example, where these connections are strong, determinations
of undervaluation will recognise the lack of inclusivity of past wage-setting meas-
ures and may include compensation for the erosion in value of remedies over time.
Additionally, provisions for industry determination of wages provides the scope
for collective (for example, across industries or occupations) rather than simply
individual or enterprise-level comparisons and remedies in assessments of gender
wage inequality.

In the next section of the article, we apply these criteria to each of our epochs,
examining the extent to which the Australian regulatory framework has exhibited a
trajectory towards a displacement approach to gender pay inequality, and how
well this has been supported by broader wage-setting principles and practices.
Through a specific focus on the principles guiding determinations, we seek to
provide insights into optimal approaches to equal remuneration for work of
equal value and the barriers that can derail them.
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Australian approaches to equal remuneration for work of
equal value across four epochs

In this section of the article, we apply our typology to key legislative and case
initiatives over four epochs in Australian wage-setting. The features of each epoch,
including wage-setting policy, are summarised in Table 2. Our focus is primarily on
federal wage-setting. However, we also include key initiatives in two state juris-
dictions, New South Wales (NSW) and Queensland (epoch 3), as these initiatives
arose as a counterpoint to weaknesses in federal equal remuneration regulation.

The 1969 and 1972 principles and 1986 comparable worth proceedings

The first epoch commenced with the introduction of equal pay principles into
Australia’s federal system of wage fixation and includes their application in sub-
sequent decades. The epoch, particularly prior to 1991, coincided with periods of
compulsory arbitration, policy support for industry and occupational awards and
centralised wage fixing. In 1969, the Commonwealth Conciliation and Arbitration
Commission (CCAC) heard a claim lodged by unions and supported by women’s
organisations for a flat-rate wage increase for women, designed to eliminate the
‘needs-based’ gender differences that had been embedded in wage-setting
(Australasian Meat Industry Employees Union v Meat & Allied Trades Federation
of Australia ( Equal Pay Case 1969 ), at 1147). Employer organisations opposed the
application both on the size of the wage increase sought but also on the basis that
differences in wages should continue to reflect social relations (at 1150—1151). The
Commission’s view was that equality of work must first be determined, and to this
endit adopted a principle of equal pay for equal work that rested on a narrow
interpretation of equal pay, in doing so agreeing with substantial elements of the
submissions of the Commonwealth government’ (at 1149-1150). The principle
only applied where ‘work performed by men and women was of the same or a
like nature’ (at 1158) and a specific exclusion applied to work predominantly
undertaken by women (at 1159). This construction limited the available remedies
to women who worked in identical jobs to men but received lower award wages
than their male counterparts (Smith 2011b; Short, 1986).

The wider construction of equal pay for work of equal value was introduced by
the Commission® only 3 years after its 1969 forerunner (National Wage Case &
Equal Pay Cases 1972). The decision followed a union application which included
evidence that only 18% of women in paid work had received wage increases arising
from the 1969 principle (at 177). Employer organisations opposed aspects of the
application on the premise that it would be the basis for applications for wage
increases to restore relativities in favour of men (at 178). This reasoning was
rejected by the Commission, which acknowledged the narrow scope of the 1969
equal pay principle (at 178). As a result of the 1972 principle, the effective exclu-
sion of female-dominated industries from the ambit of the 1969 principle was
lifted. The decision provided the opportunity for the Commission to reassess the
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value of feminised work, utilising the concept of work value as historically applied
by Australian tribunals. Although differentially applied, this concept took into
account the skills and qualifications required for the work as well as the conditions
under which it was performed. While in principle this could have involved com-
parisons of work value across awards, and the decision did nominally provide for
this (at 180), the Commission thought that comparisons would be made mainly
between classifications in the same industry or occupational award (Smith 2011b:
650).

The 1972 principle proved to have a less than straightforward application.
There was a limited number of applications and those filed had been resolved by
consent without arbitration and extended consideration, in the context of an appli-
cation, of equal value. This context underpinned contested comparable worth
proceedings in 1986 (Private Hospitals & Doctors Nurses (ACT) Award 1972)
when nursing unions, led by the Australian Council of Trade Unions, sought a
series of in-principle rulings, including one that the Commission apply the 1972
principle via the concept of comparable worth. Comparable worth was not explic-
itly defined by the applicants other than to identify it as an alternative to work
value as a potential means of assessing work equivalence, the implicit argument
being that comparable worth would yield greater success in deploying the 1972
principle to address the undervaluation of feminised work. Women’s organisations
supported the application and drew explicit attention to the requirement for a
reassessment of the value of work. Employer organisations opposed the applica-
tion, arguing that the 1972 principle applied through the concept of comparable
worth would result in excessive applications for wage increases and would be
inconsistent with the Commission’s approach to the determination of work
value and the Commission’s wage-fixing principles (at 112). The Commonwealth
government supported the ongoing implementation of the 1972 principle but also
emphasised the importance of the wage-fixing principles and the control they
exercised over wage increases (at 111).

Although the applicants did not define comparable worth specifically, the tri-
bunals assessed comparable worth through its application internationally, based
on material submitted by the Commonwealth government, concluding that it
‘refers to the value of the work in terms of its worth to the employer’ (at 113).
The Commission rejected the application of comparable worth to Australian
labour law and affirmed the concept of work value as the means of assessing
whether the requirements of the 1972 principle were met (at 114).

The application of our typology to this particular epoch in Australian pay
equity regulation carries some complexity. The claim that triggered the 1969
case sought increases for women that would eliminate the gender differences
embedded in the family wage, and in this sense, it represented a challenge to the
gender settlements that had characterised Australian wage fixing from the outset of
compulsory conciliation and arbitration. However, the equal pay principle
adopted by the Commission in 1969 was unequivocally an ‘inclusion’ approach
— it was limited to ‘same work’ with its potential scope of reform excluding areas of
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highly feminised work, and effectively eschewing, albeit by exclusion, the specific
and feminised identity consistent with the characterisation of a reversal approach.

The 1972 principle, which addressed the shortcomings of the 1969 principle
through its recognition of feminised work, aligns with aspects of a reversal
approach, ostensibly through its provision for equal rates where equivalence in
work value could be demonstrated across different areas of work. Relevant also to
this alignment was the absence in the principle of a requirement for a male com-
parator and the promotion of nominally gender-neutral work value criteria. Yet
this promise provided by the 1972 principle posed new issues. In short, how should
equivalence be assessed where work was different? The absence of cases following
the 1972 principle highlighted how the tribunal, employer organisations and col-
lective labour had failed to resolve the standard against which feminised work
should be judged (Smith 2011a: e189). In practice, the application of the equal
pay for equal value principle defaulted to an inclusion approach due to the unwill-
ingness to extend comparisons beyond similar work. The comparable worth pro-
ceedings illustrated trade unions’ and women’s advocacy groups’ frustration with
this default, but also the complexities in the prosecution of the reversal approach.

Through its decision in the comparable worth proceedings, the Commission
determined that the 1972 principle privileged as a primary action comparisons
of work within awards rather than across awards and occupational groupings.
On this reasoning, and in the context of a nursing award, the gender pay equity
position of nurses would be initially established by reference to other nurses. Yet
the applicants’ approach in relying on comparable worth also had the effect of
aligning the application of the principle to binary comparisons of feminised and
masculinised work. The strategy proved antithetical to the applicant’s objective of
utilising the 1972 principle to conduct the types of broad-based cross-award and
cross-industry work value investigations that the applicants identified as necessary
to redressing the valuation of feminised work (Private Hospitals & Doctors Nurses
(ACT) Award 1972, at 113—114). The key question that would continue to char-
acterise Australian pay equity regulation — namely, how should policy successfully
elevate consideration of the undervaluation of feminised work (through a specific
focus on gender) without recourse to comparisons with masculinised work —
remained unaddressed. Coupled with the rarity of cases, this outcome underlined
the difficulties of applying a reversal strategy in the Australian context. What
eventuated was a weak form of reversal. For gender equality this was an oppor-
tunity lost. These weaknesses in the application of the 1972 principle occurred at a
time when, if remedied, there was capacity for the widespread distribution of wage
increases through the mechanism of industry awards.

A legislative right to equal remuneration, 1993—2008

The second epoch in equal pay for work of equal value initiatives began with the
introduction of a legislative entitlement to equal remuneration for work of equal
value in the federal jurisdiction in 1993-1994. This extension of equal pay





Smith and Whitehouse 545

provisions beyond the wage-setting tribunals was in part a response to the persis-
tence of gender pay inequity in Australia, where a marked narrowing of the gender
pay gap in average weekly total earnings in the 1970s had levelled off, leaving a
relatively static gap of a little under 20% during the 1980s and into the 1990s (see
e.g. Whitehouse, 2004: 218). The objective of equal remuneration for men and
women for work of equal value was enshrined in amendments to the Industrial
Relations Act 1988 (Cth) enacted as the Industrial Relations Reform Act 1993,
with the provisions coming into force in 1994. The introduction of the legislative
amendments coincided with a policy shift to more decentralised bargaining, inclu-
sive of enterprise and at times individual bargaining. This shift included the dis-
mantling of compulsory arbitration and the weakening of the system of industry
awards.

The new measures provided the Australian Industrial Relations Commission
(the successor to the CCAC) with the capacity to issue equal remuneration orders
where the legislative entitlement to equal remuneration was found to be breached.
The provisions explicitly referred to ILO 100, stating that rates of remuneration be
established without discrimination based on sex. In line with the broad definition
of ‘remuneration’ in ILO 100, they also widened the concept of ‘equal pay’ embed-
ded in the 1972 principle to ‘equal remuneration’, which enabled consideration of
payments over the minimum rate, or ‘overaward’ earnings (Layton et al., 2014:
143). The provisions would, in turn, be included largely unchanged in subsequent
labour law legislation introduced in 1996, the Workplace Relations Act 1996 (Cth),
but were amended by the Workplace Relations Amendment (Work Choices) Act
2005 (Cth) in a key area, one critical to the construction and assessment of equal
remuneration regulation: applicants were required to cite explicit reference to a
comparator group of employees, defined in the legislation as the ‘employees whom
the applicant contends are performing work of equal value to the work performed
by the employees to whom the application relates’ (s 622) (Smith and Stewart,
2017). However, these amended provisions were not ever tested by way of
application.

The weaknesses in the legislative amendments introduced in 1993 were con-
firmed at one level by the low rate of applications and the absence of any equal
remuneration orders made under those provisions (Layton et al., 2014: 138). More
fundamentally, they were also illustrated in the complexities over what would be
accepted as evidence of equal value and unequal pay. The one case that proceeded
to extended arbitration followed a union application focusing on differences in the
wage structures of female and male workers at HPM Industries: women employed
as process workers and packers and engaged in repetitive, dextrous work and
lacking consistent access to overaward payments; men employed in heavier general
hands and stores work but enjoying access to significant overaward payments
(Automotive,Food, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union v
HPM Industries Pty Ltd). A key contest in the proceedings was the reliance by
unions on competency standards to demonstrate that the work was of equal value
(at 137-138). Employer organisations contested this reliance and with the
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Commonwealth government argued for a narrow interpretation of the legislative
provisions; this concerned the Commission’s capacity to address overaward pay-
ments and assessment of whether differences in pay arose from sex discrimination
(at 146-157).

The application was refused and a subsequent application settled without the
need for final arbitration. The Commission’s ongoing interpretation of the legis-
lative provisions was that applicants must demonstrate that the work was of equal
value and that the disparities in earnings had a discriminatory cause (see also,
Automotive, Food, Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union v
David Syme & Co., Ltd; Hunter, 2000). The HPM proceedings demonstrated the
complexity in demonstrating that earnings disparities arose from a discriminatory
cause. Direct discrimination was not found because the work of the classifications
cited in the application was sufficiently dissimilar, such that the remuneration
differences between men and women were not found to exist in the same circum-
stances. Indirect discrimination was not determined because no requirement or
condition was found to account for the remuneration differences between men
and women workers (Smith, 2011a, 2011b; Automotive, Food, Metals,
Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union v HPM Industries Pty Ltd, at
165). In the small number of applications lodged under the provisions, the
Commission confirmed that applicants should make their case on the basis of
work value, but also indicated work value was a relative measure involving judge-
ment by the Commission, where the choice of the method of demonstrating work
value fell to the applicant (Automotive, Food, Metals, Engineering, Printing and
Kindred Industries Union v David Syme & Co Ltd (2), at [20]; Automotive, Food,
Metals, Engineering, Printing and Kindred Industries Union v HPM Industries (2),
at [171H18]).

Ostensibly this stage of equal pay reform held some promise for feminist advo-
cacy and women in paid work, given the legislative foundation, its explicit refer-
ence to ILO 100 and the widening of the scope of those provisions to
remuneration, rather than simply pay. These features broadened the scope of cov-
erage and the potential for meaningful remedies and — through the promise of an
increased capacity to assess ‘value’ across different types of work — opened possi-
bilities for a stronger reversal approach. However, the direction to discrimination
and its interpretation by the Commission favoured a narrow form of job compar-
ison and constituted a weak form of the reversal approach. In practice, the equal
remuneration provisions were limited by constraints imposed by the tribunal on
the capacity of applicants to demonstrate that the objective of equal value was not
met. These constraints included the requirement to ‘prove’ discrimination and the
‘individualisation’ that this imposed. The requirements of the sex discrimination
test, as determined by the Commission, tightened the grounds upon which appli-
cations would be heard. It meant that it favoured resolution at the level of the
individual worker, or of the workplace, such that an individual woman or a work-
place group of women had to demonstrate discriminatory processes in the deter-
mination of their wages. Thus, equality could only be claimed where women
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demonstrated a ‘sameness’ to men, with ambivalent or overly restrictive conditions
on how ‘difference’ from men should be assessed, measured and valued (Smith,
2011a: e191).

As was the case under the 1969 and 1972 principles, work value was the means
through which parties were required to demonstrate equal value. The key question
that remained was whether the conceptualisation and application of work value
had been sufficiently inclusive of feminised work (Layton et al., 2014: 144). The
inherent weakness in the discrimination test, joined to the Commission’s lack of
openness to recognise past frailties on the application of work value, meant that in
practice the 1993 legislative amendments constituted a very weak reversal
approach. While the provisions nominally enabled the prosecution of claims for
equal remuneration for work of equal value involving different areas of work, the
interpretation of the provisions narrowed the scope of the provisions to areas of
similar work. Buttressing these weaknesses was the broader fragmentation of
wage-setting that had occurred with federal wage-setting policy, a fragmentation
that highly constrained the capacity for award-based remedies to gender
inequality.

Equal remuneration regulation initiatives in NSW and Queensland (1997-)

The third epoch was the phase during which equal remuneration initiatives in two
state jurisdictions considerably broadened the scope for establishing and redressing
the undervaluation of work typically performed by women. These initiatives arose
in the context of stalled federal equal pay reforms, leading to renewed interest in
state government jurisdictions over the potential for new directions in measures to
advance pay equity. Two states, NSW and Queensland, led the way, initially
through pay equity inquiries conducted through the respective state industrial
tribunals (Fisher, 2001; Glynn, 1998). The nature of the inquiries provided discur-
sive opportunities for an assessment of regulatory approaches to equal pay; in turn
the inquiries preceded new equal remuneration principles in those jurisdictions
(Equal Remuneration Principle (2000); Equal Remuneration Principle (2002)). The
broader wage-setting context mirrored some aspects of that evident federally,
namely the weakening of compulsory arbitration and support for decentralised
forms of bargaining. Yet it remained possible for wage increases arising from an
equal remuneration determination to be widely distributed through an industry
award.

There are some important distinctions between the two state approaches,
namely the equal remuneration principle in NSW is confined to minimum award
rates of pay, whereas the Queensland principle is not (Layton et al., 2014: 164).
Additionally, the Queensland Equal Remuneration Principle specifically directs
industrial tribunals to consider whether there has been adequate weight placed
on the typical work performed and the skills and responsibilities exercised by
women, as well as the conditions under which the work is performed. It also
notes that aspects of women’s labour market participation may have influenced
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the valuation of their work. These included the degree of occupational segregation,
the disproportionate representation of women in part-time or casual work,
women’s low rates of unionisation, and their low representation in workplaces
covered by formal or informal work agreements. The differences in the principles
reflected the nature of the equal remuneration proceedings in NSW; namely, that
the state government had not implemented legislative amendments following the
inquiry, and the strong interest of the Commission in unions and employer organ-
isations reaching a largely agreed position on the principle (at [[6],143]).

These differences aside, equal remuneration principles in both NSW and
Queensland place emphasis on gender-based undervaluation as the threshold to
establishing whether there is the basis for an equal remuneration claim. A central
feature is that the test of undervaluation does not revert routinely to a male stan-
dard, in fact comparisons within and between occupations and industries are not
required in order to establish undervaluation of work. Male ‘comparators’ might
be used for illustrative purposes but are not an evidentiary precondition.
Applicants can use a range of comparisons, including other areas of feminised
work, where the applicant can demonstrate the rates of pay have been set properly
(see e.g. Smith and Stewart, 2010; Hall, 1999; Whitehouse and Rooney, 2007). This
approach provided for assessments of gendered practice in the recognition of work
(see Blackman et al., 2020).

In the terms of the typology we have outlined, the approaches in NSW and
Queensland represented a strong reversal and at times displacement approach. In a
number of cases, the Commission identified that comparative assessments were
either not supportive of the resolution of the case or were not required; alterna-
tively, evidence was drawn from a wide range of comparator positions when seek-
ing to remedy confirmed undervaluation. Undervaluation could be demonstrated
by showing that current rates of pay were not in accord with the tribunal’s assess-
ment of the value of work, and the Commission was able to avail itself of a wide
range of evidence in reaching this conclusion. Although the concept of gender-
based undervaluation would be conducive to successful applications in both NSW
and Queensland, the cases also illustrated an unevenness in application, as indus-
trial tribunals addressed the lived experience of an approach to equal remuneration
that did not rely on either mandatory comparators or the requirement for discrim-
ination to be proven. This unevenness was evident in the ways in which the state
Commissions determined findings of undervaluation and/or fixed a remedy for the
undervaluation so found.

While in both jurisdictions there was evidence of the industrial tribunal eschew-
ing the requirement for a masculinised comparator, different approaches to the
establishment of undervaluation and its redress were adopted in the cases heard
under the new principles. In a case involving childcare workers in NSW, the
Commission found that there were ‘serious difficulties’ in drawing comparisons
between the work of childcare workers and those employed in male-dominated
industries, but found that comparisons could usefully be made between teachers
and childcare workers in setting a new rate for childcare workers (Miscellaneous
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Workers’ Kindergartens and Child Care Centres etc (State) Award at [214]-{217]).
The Queensland Industrial Relations Commission in LHMU v The Australian
Dental Association (Queensland Branch) Union of Employers did not rely on the
use of comparators to determine undervaluation. The Commission’s recognition of
undervaluation was not based on the use of a male (or any) comparator, but rather
on factors including the identification of gender bias in the award history. The
absence of work value cases, poorly applied wage adjustment processes and a
prevalence of consent awards were taken as indications that the work had never
been appropriately valued, and that there was a need for work value assessments
that identified under-recognised skills, qualifications, training and professional
development, and the ‘disabilities’ associated with the conditions under which
dental assistants worked (at [48], [51], [63], [162]). Having found that the work
of dental assistants was undervalued, the Queensland Industrial Relations
Commission (QIRC) based the remedy on a male comparator via the metal indus-
try tradesperson (C10) classification in the Engineering Award — State.’ This route
to remedy was in line with the widespread and historical use of the C10 level in the
federal Engineering Award (and its antecedents) as a benchmark for work value
comparisons: the Commission’s reliance on it in this case was evidence of a weaker
reversal model due to the central role it gave to masculinised benchmarks in assess-
ments of work value. Yet this aspect of the decision was balanced by the acknowl-
edgement that a simple variation of minimum (award) rates of pay would be
insufficient to redress the undervaluation found, hence the comparison of C10
rates was extended through recognition also of state enterprise bargaining rates.
Taking these into account increased the remedy delivered; moreover, the decision
included an ‘equal remuneration component’ to help offset erosion of the deci-
sion’s relative value over time, recognising that dental assistants had limited access
to enterprise bargaining and a structural inequity in wage determination (at [188],
[192]-[197])."°

In summary, the equal remuneration principles in NSW and Queensland
allowed the identification and redress of gender-based undervaluation through
approaches that ranged from weak to strong reversal and on occasions moved
towards a displacement model. Cases taken under the principles explicitly valued
‘difference’ by recognising the skills and conditions of the work being performed,
demonstrating that significant elements of work had previously not been taken into
account or not accorded sufficient weight in assessments of work value. They did
this in part through recognition of historically embedded gender bias in industrial
instruments, exposing the ways in which earlier rates had been set incorrectly due
to assumptions about the nature and value of work undertaken by women.
Importantly, this was achieved without requiring the applicant parties to demon-
strate that the rates had been set incorrectly because of sex discrimination. The
process delivered benefits in spite of the risks of essentialising previously unrecog-
nised skills as ‘female’ and potentially of lesser value than those that could be
aligned with a male norm. In other ways, however, the strategies adopted
moved beyond these ‘reversal’ benefits and risks to a recognition of structural
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disadvantage as a basis for undervaluation. This was most evident in Queensland
where the equal remuneration principle includes explicit criteria consistent with
structural disadvantage, such as high levels of casualisation and low levels of
enterprise bargaining. These differences in approaches to the establishment of
undervaluation were echoed in the remedies adopted. The Commission’s focus
on ensuring that the value of the work was properly set ranged from defaulting
to a weaker reversal model through an exclusive reliance on male comparators, to
remedies that recognised structural disadvantage by aligning new rates of pay with
bargained outcomes in relevant occupations.

Equal remuneration under the 2009 Fair Work Act

The fourth epoch concerns equal remuneration provisions in new federal labour
legislation introduced in 2009: the Fair Work Act. The equal remuneration pro-
visions in the new Act confer a discretion on the Commission'" to issue an order to
ensure that, for the employees to whom the order will apply, there will be ‘equal
remuneration for men and women workers for work of equal or comparable value’
(s302(1)). The inclusion of the phrase ‘or comparable value’ significantly expands
the power to make equal remuneration orders relative to previous legislation;
moreover, unlike earlier legislation, the provisions do not specify a requirement
to demonstrate sex discrimination or make reference to a comparator group of
employees (Smith and Stewart, 2014). The introduction of new federal labour law
retained a focus on enterprise but not individual bargaining, but did provide the
basis for the review of industry awards through award modernisation. The impor-
tance of federal equal remuneration regulation had increased due to wider changes
in Australian labour law (see Table 2). The current equal remuneration provisions
have been tested by way of two cases, the outcomes of which demonstrate the
uncertain nature of equal remuneration regulation in Australia.

The first case arose from an application by unions for equal remuneration
orders in the social and community services sector. The applications were con-
tested with employer organisations opposed to the unions’ reliance on gender-
based undervaluation as the rationale for seeking equal remuneration orders.
Fair Work Australia (the name of the tribunal at that time) handed down the
first of the two major decisions in May 2011 (Equal Remuneration Case (2011)).
The central features of this first decision were the tribunal’s finding that the work
was undervalued on a gender basis, and its direction to the parties to make further
submissions on remedy. The finding of gender-based undervaluation involved a set
of linked conclusions. The tribunal found that much of the work is caring work;
that such a characterisation can contribute to the undervaluation of work; that
work in the sector was indeed undervalued; and, given that caring work has a
female characterisation, that the undervaluation was gender based (at [253]). Fair
Work Australia determined that it was not a prerequisite for applicants to rely on a
male comparator, although applicants were required to demonstrate that the
remuneration paid had been subject to gender-based undervaluation (at [233]).
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The parties were required to make further submissions on remedy, specifically the
extent to which the undervaluation was gender based (at [286]).

The applicants’ submissions on remedy relied on identifying the proportion
of caring work in each social and community services sector classification, rel-
evant to the classification, as a proxy for gender-based undervaluation. In
February 2012, a majority decision of the Fair Work Commission largely
accepted the use of care work as a proxy for gender-based undervaluation
and agreed that it should be remedied (Equal Remuneration Case (2012)), at
[63]). The resultant equal remuneration order provided for increases of between
19% and 41% to the minimum award rates in addition to a 4% loading, to
recognise ‘impediments to bargaining in the industry’ (at [68]).

The second test of the provisions arose from an application for equal remuner-
ation orders in the early childhood education and care sector. The Commission
deferred hearing the substantive application, and following submissions handed
down a decision in November 2015 on legislative and conceptual issues (Equal
Remuneration Decision (2015)). Unions argued that the Commission should con-
tinue to utilise gender-based undervaluation as the means of assessing whether the
legislative requirement of equal remuneration for work equal value was met
(Independent Education Union of Australia, 2014; United Voice and Australian
Education Union, 2014). Employer organisations and the Commonwealth govern-
ment argued that applicants must demonstrate that the objective of equal remu-
neration for work of equal or comparable value is not met through reference to a
comparative assessment of equal value (Australian Chamber of Commerce and
Industry, 2014; Australian Federation of Employers and Industries, 2014;
Australian Industry Group, 2014; Commonwealth of Australia, 2014). In its deci-
sion the tribunal rejected gender-based undervaluation as a means of women
claiming equal remuneration under the equal remuneration provisions of the
Fair Work Act, thereby dismissing the reasoning that had been relied on in the
preceding social and community services case. The Commission determined that
for an equal remuneration order to be made in favour of a group of female
employees, an applicant must identify a group of male employees, doing work
of equal or comparable value, who were receiving higher remuneration (at
[242]H243]). In specifying the requirement for comparators, the Commission
also identified the particularly narrow set of circumstances that this requirement
would favour:

It is likely that the task of determining whether s302(5) is satisfied will be easier with
comparators that are small in terms of the number of employees in each, are capable of
precise definition, and in which employees perform the same or similar work under the
same or similar conditions, than with comparators that are large, diverse, and involve
significantly different work under a range of different conditions (Equal Remuneration
Decision, (2015), at [291]).
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To assess the comparison of jobs, the Commission indicated that it would rely
on concepts of work value, as it was understood in industrial proceedings,
although other criteria may also be relevant (at [279]-{280]). On the question of
remedy, the Commission found that if a lack of equal remuneration was estab-
lished between the two (explicitly gendered) groups, there would be no warrant for
‘discounting’ any remedy to exclude pay differences that are not gender-related
(Smith and Stewart, 2017).

In addressing its rejection of the concept of gender-based undervaluation as the
basis of a claim for equal remuneration, the Commission determined that it is
insufficient also for applicants to base their claim on the proposition that the
current rates of remuneration did not reflect the intrinsic value of the work (at
[290]), although it is open for applicants to file a work value claim seeking to vary
the minimum rates of pay in a modern award on the basis that rates of pay
undervalue the work for gender-related reasons [at 292]. Any claim of this
nature would, however, be restricted to minimum rates of pay.'>

The Commission’s shift in reasoning from the social and community services
case to the early childhood education and care case has continued the transitory
and contested nature of Australian equal remuneration regulation. In the con-
text of our typology, the regulation as practised represents a weak form of the
reversal approach and in some areas a slippage back to the inclusion approach.
The regulation requires binary comparisons, and while it extends to remunera-
tion, rather than minimum wages, is not well suited to resolution of equal
remuneration claims at an industry level. Previous stages of federal equal remu-
neration regulation arguably rested implicitly on or defaulted to a series of
masculinised benchmarks. Yet the Commission’s recent insistence on a binary
and gendered comparator has rendered this relation an explicit one and needs
to be read alongside the Commission’s acknowledgement that applications for
equal remuneration orders will be more straightforward when the workers,
featured in the application, are performing similar work under similar condi-
tions. Such a requirement favours an individual woman or a small group of
women claiming equal pay for work of equal value on the basis of a compar-
ison with a male worker or workers in a single workplace. This requirement
and the narrowing of the basis upon which equal remuneration can be claimed
highlights Australian federal regulation’s struggle to address the ‘complexities in
how sameness and difference are conceptualised and reconciled, and how gender
inequalities can be reproduced in such discourses’ (Smith and Stewart, 2017:
133-134). This shift in the interpretation, and the consequent narrowing of the
scope of the provisions, sat awkwardly alongside a renewed albeit limited
capacity at a federal level to prosecute award-based reform. In its rejection
of gender-based undervaluation, the Commission has spurned the opportunity
to both redress undervaluation and direct the focus of regulation to ensuring
the value of work is properly set. Additionally, applicants cannot address his-
torical bias in industrial instruments through equal remuneration applications,
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thus providing for a very limited recognition of structural disadvantage (see also
Macdonald and Charlesworth, 2013).

Conclusion

Implicit in our characterisation of a continuum from inclusion, through reversal,
to displacement is the presumption of progression towards more effective ways of
redressing gender pay inequality. Our analysis shows that a linear progression of
this nature has not been the experience in Australia — rather, the pathway has been
indirect, sometimes circular and remains unclear in direction. The epochs (and the
cases that constitute them) illustrate both the hybrid nature of the equal remuner-
ation approaches adopted and oscillation between contrasting approaches.
Consistent with Rubery’s (2019) observations, the unevenness and inconsistencies
in approaches and outcomes reflect the highly politicised nature of pay equity
reform. This is evident in the Australian epochs through the calibrated resistance
by employer organisations and at times the state to those measures that would
address structural disadvantage. What is evident is a nominal commitment to
gender pay equity, but one that is narrowly cast—confined in effective terms to
resolving wage differences between women and men engaged in similar work.
Relevant too is the imprint of neoliberalism that has weakened the capacity for
industry awards to be the agency for gender equity.

These complexities are evident in each of the epochs we examine, but they are
also contextualised by wider wage-setting policies and practices. The potential for
‘reversal’ in the 1972 principle, with its explicit focus on equal value and lack of
explicit need for a male comparator, was inadequately captured, in part due to the
Commission’s unwillingness to extend comparisons beyond similar work, and in
part due to the kinds of comparisons later sought by applicants. The extension to a
legislated entitlement to equal remuneration for work of equal value in 1993 sim-
ilarly promised a strong ‘reversal’” approach but was limited in practice by con-
straints on the capacity to demonstrate equal value, including the Commission’s
interpretation of the requirement to ‘prove’ that disparate rates of pay arose from
discrimination and the individualisation of comparison that this test imposed. The
much stronger reversal model that emerged from NSW and Queensland pay equity
inquiries in the late 1990s and early 2000s, embedded in pay equity principles for
establishing gender-based undervaluation that did not require comparators or
proof of discrimination, did enable more progressive decisions, including some
that pushed the boundaries of reversal towards displacement through recognition
of structural disadvantages. However, the subsequent expansion of the federal
jurisdiction has precluded further application of these principles in the private
sector, and — as analysis of our fourth epoch under the provisions of the Fair
Work Act 2009 shows — the Australian trajectory has swung back towards an
‘inclusion’ or at the very least ‘weak reversal’ approach to equal remuneration.
This is evident most recently in the requirement for a binary and gendered
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comparator, and is emphasised in the Commission’s acknowledgement that appli-
cations for equal remuneration orders will be more straightforward when the
workers are performing similar work under similar conditions.

Examination of the epochs also highlights some of the tensions in reversal
approaches. Reversal approaches are predicated on the specific identification of
failings in the valuation of feminised work, such that the objective of equal remu-
neration is not being met. Yet the standard of evidence, or underpinning method-
ology, required to support the application—as too the required approaches to
remedy—is often only legitimised by reference to masculinised comparators. This
particular weakness illustrates the tension inherent in reversal approaches that can
identify flaws in the historical assessment of work value but at the same time risk
being grounded in essentialism. This not only limits the remedies that are available
to women through reversal, it also occludes consideration of the conflation of
gender with those factors that generate structural disadvantage in wage outcomes.
Arguably, a requirement for comparators is not mandatory in the strongest forms
of the reversal approach, nor in a displacement approach, although the cases that
we have reviewed have also identified the nuances in the distinctions between the
reversal and displacement approaches. This is apparent in the determination of
undervaluation and also in its remedy; specifically, the recognition that wage dis-
parities arise from a cumulative series of additive and gendered practices. If the
object of equal remuneration for work of equal value is to be realised, remedies in
the context of the Australian wage-fixing system would be required to address not
only historical and gendered assessments of work value (and the processes that give
rise to them), but also the inequities in remuneration outcomes that arise from
women’s lack of access to bargained wage outcomes. Yet remedies of this type are
best enabled by wage-setting policies and practices that provide for the assessment
of undervaluation at an industry level, including the recognition of structural dis-
advantage in the prior regulation of the work.

Overall our analysis illustrates the absence of any clear trajectory in approaches
to equal remuneration for work of equal value in Australia, and warns against
assuming any smooth pathway from inclusion through reversal to transcendence
of the sameness/difference binary in displacement. In drawing attention to the
location of contrasting approaches in our typology, we underline the features of
policy design needed to redress gender-based undervaluation of work. Australia’s
trajectory to date underlines how vulnerable these features are and contributes to
understandings of what is needed in order to enhance the sustainability and appli-
cation of ‘equal pay for work of equal value’ strategies over time.
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Notes

1.

10.

In line with Connell (2002), we use the term ‘gender order’ to represent the overall
structure of gender relations in a society at a particular time; it captures historically
evolving patterns of power relations and role differentiation between men and women at
the level of the society as a whole.

. The term ‘pay equity’ is often used in the literature as equivalent to ‘equal remuneration

for work of equal value’, although there is considerable variation across countries. ‘Pay
equity’ is common in North America, along with ‘comparable worth’ as the strategy
invoked to give it effect. In this article, we use ‘pay equity’ in our analysis of equal
remuneration for equal value strategies in Australia, but not ‘comparable worth’, which
— as we explain later — was rejected as a concept in Australian wage fixation.

. This critique extends to job evaluation techniques (see also Figart, 2000; Steinberg,

1992). The practical difficulties of implementation are also underlined by Rubery
(2019): in reflecting on Acker’s (1989) analysis of comparable worth measures in
Oregon in the 1980s, Rubery notes that establishing equal value and redressing pay
inequalities are not simple technical matters but rather highly political processes that
meet resistance.

. Similar conceptualisations, in which a third component has been linked with transfor-

mation of gender relations, have been applied specifically to the analysis of gender
mainstreaming (see e.g. Rees, 1998; Squires, 2005; Walby, 2005a, 2005b).

. Which, as Blau and Kahn (1992) have clearly demonstrated, also widens gender

pay gaps.

. Similarly, economic measures such as austerity provisions and privatisation may under-

mine pay equality efforts, limiting the scope for claims and possibly eroding gains won
under earlier arrangements (see also Fudge, 2000).

. ‘Commonwealth government’ refers to the national government in Australia’s federal

system. The term is used throughout when referring to the national government’s sub-
missions to cases.

. The title of the presiding federal tribunal changed from the CCAC to the Australian

Conciliation and Arbitration Commission in 1973 and the Australian Industrial
Relations Commission in 1988.

. In contrast, the QIRC’s remedy for recognised undervaluation in LHMU v Children’s

Service Employers Association was not based on any particular comparator group,
noting only that the final wage rates balanced the considerations of pay equity against
affordable childcare services (see Whitehouse and Rooney, 2011).

Similarly, in a subsequent 20082009 case involving community service sector workers
(Queensland Services, Industrial Union of Employees v Queensland Chamber of
Commerce and Industry Ltd), the Commissioner agreed that it was appropriate to use
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certified agreement rates as a guide to ascertaining an appropriate remedy, and again
provided an ‘equal remuneration component’ in recognition of low levels of access to
the higher wage rates available through enterprise bargaining.

11. Named Fair Work Australia from 2009 to 2012, thereafter the Fair Work Commission.

12. An ongoing case is assessing this alternative work value option (Re 2013/6333 &
AM2018/9 — Equal Remuneration Order/Application to Vary Modern Award). This
assessment follows the Commission rejecting metal trades and related classifications
from a manufacturing award being a suitable comparator group for early childhood
and care workers (Re Application by United Voice, Australian Education Union for an
Equal Remuneration Order, 2018).
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